2013

An analysis of differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs



Sophie Vonck 7/11/2013

Reprint prohibited

ERASMUS UNIVERSITY ROTTERDAM **Erasmus School of Economics** Master Thesis Entrepreneurship and Strategy Economics

An analysis of differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs: Are they different and how?

Name	: Sophie Vonck
Studentnumber	: 318528
Supervisor	: B. Hoogendoorn
City	: Rotterdam
Date	: July 11, 2013

Abstract

In this thesis the drivers and characteristics of sustainable entrepreneurs were compared to the drivers and characteristics of traditional entrepreneurs. Differences are pointed out and explained using existing literature concerning sustainable entrepreneurship, human capital theory and the social capital theory. For this research novel data from the GEM-survey 2009 special topic: 'social entrepreneurship activity' has been used, the first dataset that allows for a quantitative detailed empirical analysis of individual drivers and antecedents of sustainable entrepreneurship. Based on previous literature two approaches were used in order to find and categorize possible differences; the human capital theory and the social capital theory. Following the human capital theory indicators for knowledge and experience were included in the empirical model. For social capital indicators concerning bonding and bridging social capital were included. A positive effect of human capital on the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur could only partly be proven. Furthermore, the positive influence of social capital could not be proven in the empirical research. Overall, the results of the empirical analysis prove the existence of significant differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs in this (preliminary) research. These results contribute to the existing literature concerning empirical research on sustainable entrepreneurship and suggest further exploration and research in more detail by researchers in this field.

Keywords: sustainable entrepreneurship, human capital, social capital, GEM-survey 2009 special topic: 'social entrepreneurship activity'

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Research question	2
1.2 Social relevance	2
1.3 Scientific relevance	3
1.4 Structure	3
2. Theoretical framework	4
2.1 Framing the research field	4
2.1.1 Entrepreneurship	4
2.1.2 Defining sustainable entrepreneurship	5
2.2 Individual level	8
2.2.1 Human capital theory	9
2.2.2 Social capital theory	12
3. Data and methodology	15
3.1 Data source and definitions	15
3.2 Variables	15
3.2.1 Dependent variable	15
3.2.2 Independent variables	16
3.2.3 Control variables	18
3.3 Empirical approach	20
4. Results	22
4.1 Descriptive analysis	22
4.2 Empirical analysis Logit	24
4.2.1 Results concerning human capital	26
4.2.2 Results concerning social capital	27
4.2.3 Results complete model	28
4.3 Interaction effects	30
4.3 Empirical analysis OLS	33
4.4 Model concerning highly sustainable and highly traditional entrepreneurs	34
5. Discussion and limitations	38
5.1 Discussion	38
5.2 Limitations and further research	41
6. Conclusion	44
7. Bibliography	45
8. Appendix	52

1. Introduction

In modern society, awareness is growing that our way of living has a negative impact on the state of the earth and the people living on it. Researchers found ecosystem degradation and global climate change caused by the way our society consumes natural resources and produces energy (Daneke, Hall, & Lenox, 2010). It is becoming clear, a transformation to more sustainable products and processes is necessary in order to start protecting the earth. Entrepreneurs are increasingly being cited as an important factor to start and enhance this transformation (Daneke, Hall, & Lenox, 2010). They are seen as the vanguard in the shift to a new form of capitalist development that can help to address the fears over global warming, climate change and their associated negative environmental impacts (Gibbs, 2009). Furthermore, these sustainable entrepreneurs, and sustainable development, are being cited as important for the people living on the earth, as one of their underlying drivers is creating social value (Brown, 2006; Brugmann & Prahalad, 2007). The first acknowledgement of sustainable development was given by the Brundtland Commission and the definition formulated by this commission is 'meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs'. In order to achieve the goal formulated in this definition, there are possibilities and opportunities for entrepreneurs. These opportunities exist because entrepreneurs typically focus on identifying new opportunities for creating value for customers or users and commercially developing those opportunities to establish a profitable business (Shane & Venkataraman, 2000). Schumpeter (1934) was the first economist describing these opportunities for entrepreneurs as new products and/or services, new markets, new production processes, new raw materials, or new ways of organizing existing technologies.

Compared to traditional entrepreneurs, who are widely understood to be individuals who act selfinterestedly and whose goals are economical (Vega, 2007) and thereby contribute to economic growth, Schumpeter (1934) recognized that entrepreneurs also could be driven by non-economic motives by emphasizing additional goals such as sustainability. These so called sustainable entrepreneurs are driven by more goals than just the economical ones (Schlange, 2006; Cohen & Winn, 2007). In addition to research on traditional entrepreneurs, research on sustainable entrepreneurs is needed in order to create a more complete analysis on their influence on the economy. Specifically, research into the emerging field of sustainable entrepreneurship examines whether and to what extent entrepreneurs with an environmental focus can not only contribute to economic growth, but also to reduced environmental degradation (Hall, Daneke and Lenox, 2010) and to social objectives (Lepoutre, Justo, Terjesen, & Bosma, 2011). Sustainable entrepreneurs are

¹

said to have a different mentality than traditional entrepreneurs because of their broader view (Dean & McMullen, 2007). This statement is reinforced by their attention to environmental causes, employee-friendly working conditions, an interest in wider social issues than bottom-line profits and a concern for the long-term implications of their business activities. (Harvey, 2007) Compared to traditional entrepreneurs, sustainable entrepreneurs are said to be more focused on a triple bottom line, including environmental and social objectives next to the economic objectives.

While looking at the different goals of different entrepreneurs, the question arises who the people behind these goals are and what are their drivers. Research on the individual characteristics of entrepreneurs defined some important drivers and characteristics of individuals clarifying which individuals become an entrepreneur instead of an employee. Specifying this finding for the drivers and characteristics of sustainable against traditional entrepreneurs will add a further layer of analysis in this research. Instead of looking at the occupational choice, whether an individual becomes an entrepreneur or not, this research will look at the allocation of entrepreneurship, looking at the type of entrepreneurship an individual chooses. In order to explain this choice the human capital theory and the social capital theory will be used.

1.1 Research question

In this thesis the individual characteristics and drivers of sustainable entrepreneurs will be compared to the individual characteristics and incentives of traditional entrepreneurs. Do differences between the two groups exist and if so, what are the main differences and can we explain them. In order to find differences in the characteristics, drivers and incentives of sustainable entrepreneurs (against traditional entrepreneurs) the following research question is formulated:

'Are sustainable entrepreneurs different from traditional entrepreneurs, and how?'

When investigating the main research question, the following sub questions will be answered: First, what is sustainable entrepreneurship? Furthermore, the influence of entrepreneurial knowledge, human capital and social capital will be examined on the chance of becoming a sustainable against becoming a traditional entrepreneur. Lastly the difference in risk appetite will be examined.

1.2 Social relevance

As described earlier, entrepreneurial activity with a focus on sustainability increasingly is being cited as an important factor for the transformation of the economy to an economy with opportunities for a sustainable future, which makes it important to look at the drivers of individuals with such a focus. Governments or organizations with objectives as sustainable development could implement more effective policies to achieve their goals. The results of this research could give these parties more insight in the differences between the different types of entrepreneurs. These insights could help indicate directions for the right policy environment for sustainable entrepreneurs, as these entrepreneurs are becoming more and more important in the economy.

1.3 Scientific relevance

The field of traditional entrepreneurship, in which efficiency and profits are the main objectives of the entrepreneurs, is studied extensively. Next to traditional entrepreneurship (Knight, 1921; Schumpeter, 1934), researchers have identified some other types of entrepreneurship in the past years. One of these is sustainable entrepreneurship (Young & Tilley, 2006; Parrish, 2007). The research field of sustainable entrepreneurship is still emerging and is gaining interest the last years. Trends show a clear increase in academic interest in the topic (GEM Report on Social Entrepreneurship, 2009). However, literature is still scarce and large scale quantitative empirical research is lacking. Quantitative empirical research that allows for a detailed empirical analysis of individual drivers and antecedents of sustainable entrepreneurship was hard to conduct because of missing data (Lepoutre, Justo, Terjesen, & Bosma, 2011). The recently published data of the GEMdatabase (Survey 2009) makes it possible to conduct such a research. This thesis will conduct a research with the focus on the individual characteristics and drivers of the sustainable entrepreneurs, while comparing these with the characteristics and drivers of the traditional entrepreneurs. As this is the first paper researching differences between traditional and sustainable entrepreneurs on the individual level, theories from different fields of research will be used in order to provide a solid foundation for the preliminary research conducted in this paper (Busenitz, West, Shepherd, Nelson, Chandler, & Zacharakis, 2003). Specifically, the human capital and social capital theory will be used in this preliminary paper.

1.4 Structure

The rest of the paper is structured as follows; in chapter 2 the theoretical framework is discussed. It contains the relevant existing literature and some important definitions. Based on the discussed literature hypotheses are formulated in chapter 3. The data and methodology for the empirical study are discussed in chapter 4, followed by the results in chapter 5. Finally, chapter 6 and 7 provide the discussion, limitations of the study and the conclusion.

2. Theoretical framework

In the theoretical framework first the concept of entrepreneurship will be discussed, and the different allocations of entrepreneurship will be described. When an individual becomes an entrepreneur there are several possible ways in which the start-up can be shaped. Furthermore, different objectives and goals can be defined by the entrepreneur. This is why different forms of entrepreneurship will be explained, and clear boundaries will be drawn towards the other forms of entrepreneurship. Also, in the following subsection the definition used for sustainable entrepreneurship in this thesis will be described. In the second subsection (sustainable) entrepreneurship at the individual level will be reviewed in the light of the human capital theory and social capital theory. Furthermore, the second subsection contains past research on sustainable entrepreneurship regarding the individual level, including the formation of hypotheses.

2.1 Framing the research field

2.1.1 Entrepreneurship

First, it is important to define the term entrepreneurship as there are many different interpretations used in the literature (Cunningham & Lischeron, 1991). For a summary of different definitions see Bruyat & Julien (2000). In the research community there is no widely accepted single definition of entrepreneurship (van Praag, 1999; Mahoney & Michael, 2004). Starting at the very beginning, some authors find that individuals are born as entrepreneur (Garfield, 1986; Hughes, 1986), others state that an individual decides to become an entrepreneur during life (Knight, 1921). While some literature focuses on the innovativeness (Schumpeter, 1934), others focus on the arbitrage process of an entrepreneur, bringing the demand and supply together (Knight, 1921; Kirzner, 1973). Following the reasoning of arbitrage, an entrepreneur could fulfill a more managerial role in his firm at the same time (Say, 1971). This brings the theory to the next debate, is entrepreneurship an occupational or a behavioral notion? In other words, does an entrepreneur need to own his own firm, or is being innovative and seizing opportunities at an existing firm entrepreneurship as well (Acs, 2006)? Following (empirical) literature (Bosman, Levie, & GERA, 2009; Lepoutre, Justo, Terjesen, & Bosma, 2011) entrepreneurship is defined as an occupational notion in this paper. Thus, an entrepreneur is an individual starting (or managing) a firm. Specifically, the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM) defines individuals who are entrepreneurially active as: adults in the process of setting up a business they will (partly) own and/or are currently owning and managing an operating young business. In this thesis the line of thought of the GEM will be followed for defining entrepreneurship (Reynolds, et al., 2005).

Measuring entrepreneurship

Furthermore, based on the theoretical views on entrepreneurship, different measures for entrepreneurship are defined in the literature, focusing on different aspects of being an entrepreneur. Examples of measures of entrepreneurship could be measuring small firms (Bolton, 1971), where the focus is on the number of employees; business ownership (Reynolds, et al., 2005), when the entrepreneur is owner-manager of a firm which is more than 3, 5 years old, nascent entrepreneurship (Reynolds, et al., 2005), when the entrepreneur is starting a business, and young entrepreneurship when the entrepreneur is owner-manager of a young firm (a firm which is less than 3, 5 years old). In this thesis the 'early stage entrepreneurship' measure will be used as a measure of entrepreneurship. The early stage entrepreneurs are the individuals that are currently trying to start/starting a new business and the individuals that are the owner-manager of a young firm. This measure is also called the TEA rate, the Total early-stage Entrepreneurial Activity rate, which is currently the best known indicator for measuring entrepreneurship (Reynolds, et al., 2005). The TEA rate contains some advantages for (empirical) research as data availability and data comparability (Reynolds, et al., 2005).



Figure 1: Measuring entrepreneurship (Source: Reynolds et al, 2005)

2.1.2 Defining sustainable entrepreneurship

The first subsection framed the research field concerning the definition of entrepreneurship. In this subsection the research field will further be framed, concerning the definition of sustainable entrepreneurship.

In order to define sustainable entrepreneurship, and draw clear boundaries between the different forms of entrepreneurship, a common method is to look at the categorization of objectives. While the traditional entrepreneurship is broadly identified the same way in the literature, however this statement is not supported in all literature (Van de Ven, Sapienza, & Villanueva, 2007), the distinction of other forms of entrepreneurship is not followed in all of the existing literature. There is an ambiguous use of terminology in this field when investigating the environmental objective,

different interpretations and terminology is used as: sustainable entrepreneurship (Dean & McMullen, 2007) environmental entrepreneurship (Keogh & Polonsky, 1998), ecopreneurship (Schaper, 2002)and green entrepreneurship (Berle, 1991). Further, the term sustainable is not only used as one of the possible forms for environmental objective but as a general term for all three objectives (the triple bottom line), social, environmental and economical, as well (Parrish & Tilley, 2006). As there are many different interpretations for the term 'sustainable entrepreneurship', it is important to explain how this term is defined in this thesis.

The field of traditional entrepreneurship, in which efficiency and profits are assumed to be the main objectives of the entrepreneurs, is the best known form of entrepreneurship (Knight, 1921). Entrepreneurs exploit market opportunities by being innovative and adapting to the market (Austin, Stevenson, & Wei-Skillern, 2006). Next to traditional entrepreneurship researchers have identified some other types of entrepreneurship in the past years. Examples are serial entrepreneurs, institutional entrepreneurs, habitual entrepreneurs (Wright, Robbie, & Ennew, 1997; Li, Feng, & Jiang, 2006; Ucbasaran, Westhead, & Wright, 2006). The focus in this study is on sustainable entrepreneurship (Young and Tilley, 2006; Parrish, 2007) social entrepreneurship (Harding & Cowling, 2006) and environmental entrepreneurship (Thompson, Kiefer, & York, 2011). The most common method which is used for the placement of a certain entrepreneur in one of the categories is by looking at the objectives of the entrepreneur (Thompson, Kiefer, & York, 2011). As most entrepreneurs have more than one objective, focusing on the main objective gives an important direction for placement in one of the categories. The traditional entrepreneurs tend to have an economical objective, these entrepreneurs are self-interested and the profits are central. Further, the authors find that social entrepreneurs primarily focus on 'people today' and creating social welfare, whereas sustainable entrepreneurs focus on a 'triple bottom line' (Elkington, 1998; Daneke, Hall, & Lenox, 2010) and hence thrive to optimize the interplay between people, the planet and profit. Lastly, the entrepreneurs with an environmental objective are focused on creating economical and ecological benefits simultaneously, while using the opportunities given by the ecological degradation (Thompson, Kiefer, & York, 2011; York & Venkataraman, 2010).

In this thesis a broad definition of sustainable entrepreneurship will be used, following Lepoutre (2011). Sustainable entrepreneurs are those who attempt to combine the environmental, economic and social components of sustainability in a *holistic* manner and are said to have a different organizing logic to more conventional entrepreneurs (Parrish & Tilley, 2006, Parrish, 2006). Sustainable entrepreneurs, thus, strive for both environmental and social objectives (Lepoutre, Justo, Terjesen, & Bosma, 2011). Furthermore, the economic objectives are also strived for, however, these

objectives are not the main objectives. Following Thompson, Kiefer and York (2011), sustainable entrepreneurs have two main objectives, looking at the people and planet, today and tomorrow. In particular, sustainable entrepreneurs use the enterprise as a tool for consolidating resources involving the 'total overall enterprise design' with the focus on sustainable development (Thompson, Kiefer, & York, 2011). Sustainable entrepreneurship in this view includes 'mechanisms for enhancing environmental quality and social wellbeing embedded in core business activities' (Parrish, 2010).

Entrepreneurs	Main objective	Objective time
Traditional	Profit	Today
Environmental	Planet, Profit	Future
Social	People	Today
Sustainable	Planet, People, Profit	Today and Future

Table 1: Identifying entrepreneurs and objectives

As shown in table 1, sustainable entrepreneurship focuses on entrepreneurial activity that has the potential to maintain a 'sustainable' society and ecosystem as well today as in the future (Thompson, Kiefer, & York, 2011). In order to achieve these goals, profits are necessary. However, profits are not an independent goal but seen together with the other two goals formulated, also known as the 'triple bottom line' (Daneke, Hall, & Lenox, 2010).





First, sustaining the environment is an important objective for a sustainable entrepreneur. The environment is exploited the last decades, which led to worldwide problems as pollution (air, water),

carbon dioxide, climate change, ozone decline, industrial toxins shortages in fish and so on (Cohen & Winn, 2007). The key of this objective is to shift the basis of economic development towards a more environmentally friendly basis (Dean & McMullen, 2007). Thus, recognizing opportunities that can 'save the earth (and earn you money)' (Berle, 1991). The second objective, sustaining the society, focuses on creating social value by combining resources in new ways by stimulating social change or meeting social needs (Mair & Marti, 2006), rather than creating personal or shareholder wealth (Austin, Stevenson, & Wei-Skillern, 2006). The third objective is the economical objective. As seen above, by citing Berle (1991), earning money is also a factor of sustainable entrepreneurship: creating profits and meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs.

2.2 Individual level

Previous research on sustainable entrepreneurship looked at a number of different contributions of sustainable entrepreneurship to the current economy. Some research focuses on the impact on the environment and political aspects (Gibbs, 2009). Others focus on the efficiency (Young & Tilley, 2006) or the possibilities of sustainable entrepreneurship (Cohen & Winn, 2007). Further, some literature describes the positive effects of sustainable entrepreneurship on economic growth (Daneke, Hall, & Lenox, 2010) and the gains for entrepreneurs, investors and economies (Patzelt & Sheperd, 2011). However, literature discussing individual characteristics of sustainable entrepreneurs is scarce. As not all entrepreneurs are sustainable entrepreneurs, there is a variance across entrepreneurs in their ability to recognize and embrace sustainable development opportunities (Patzelt & Sheperd, 2011).

As stated above, the research on sustainable entrepreneurship could be conducted at different levels. Examples are the firm level, regional level, country level, sectoral level and the individual level. In order to find the main differences in drivers and characteristics between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs, the individual level is the object of interest in this study. The individual characteristics of entrepreneurs compared to employees are researched extensively, as for example in the occupational choice model (Poschke, 2013). When examining the individual drivers of entrepreneurs, important determinants found in recent literature are for example: income, age, gender, experience, education, unemployment, risk and family life (Parker , 2009). When looking at the existing literature discussing the risk attitude of entrepreneurs against wage workers, entrepreneurs are found to be more willing to take risks (Gunther McGrath & MacMillan, 1992). The examples of differences between entrepreneurs and non-entrepreneurs will also be important determinants when examining differences between traditional and sustainable entrepreneurs. Furthermore, some other theories will be used in order to answer the main research question. The human capital theory will be used in order to find the accumulated implications of knowledge and

how it affects individuals who might become a traditional or sustainable entrepreneur. As the human capital theory is a theory looking at the individual characteristics of a person, as knowledge, this theory could provide some relevant information for the research. In order to provide a more complete theory to answer the main research question not only the knowledge of individuals is important, also their social network is important. The social capital theory will be used as a source to examine the differences between individuals becoming a sustainable or traditional entrepreneur in terms of their social network.

2.2.1 Human capital theory

Human capital theory (Becker, 1964; 1975) uses economic logic to study the individual decisions associated with investments in productivity-enhancing skills and knowledge (as schooling, training and firm-specific knowledge investment), career choices (as the decision to work and switching employment), and other work characteristics (as wages and hours of work). This theory maintains that individuals choose an employment that maximizes the present value of economic and psychic benefits during their lifetimes. (Gimeno, Folta, Cooper, & Woo, 1997)

Furthermore, human capital theory suggests that individuals and society derive economic benefits from investments in people (Sweetland, 1996). Examples of these investments are education and experience, leading to increased knowledge of an individual. The human capital theory maintains that knowledge provides individuals with increases in their cognitive abilities, leading to more productive and efficient potential activities (Schultz, 1959; Becker, Human Capital, 1964; Mincer, 1974). Thus, if profitable opportunities for new economic activities exist, the individuals with more human capital or a higher quality of human capital should be better at perceiving and exploiting these opportunities (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). This leads to one of the assumptions of the human capital theory; more human capital is always better (Mincer, 1974). However, not all literature agrees on this statement (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). By stating that more human capital (or: knowledge) is always better, overinvestment of human capital is possible, which influences the life and career choices of individuals possibly negatively (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). However, previous knowledge provides many positive effects, it provides a basis for acquiring new knowledge and helps an individual to integrate and adapt to a new situation in a better way (Weick, 1996).

The human capital theory defines knowledge in two complementing ways; there is tacit and explicit knowledge (Polanyi, 1966). Explicit knowledge is knowledge acquired by education, formal and/or informal, to provide useful skills for individuals (employees and entrepreneurs); tacit knowledge refers to know-how. Both types of knowledge are important for individuals when solving problems and making decisions. (Sweetland, 1996)

Human capital theory and entrepreneurship

When looking specifically at entrepreneurs, knowledge is important in order to run a business. Because of the importance of knowledge for entrepreneurs it is interesting to look at the question how knowledge could be increased. Using the human capital perspective, knowledge of individuals could be increased by education, for example by formal education as schooling or informal education as work experience. (Davidsson & Honig, 2003) Previous empirical research has examined the relationship between different types of knowledge and how these affect the exploitation of entrepreneurial opportunities (Weick, 1996; Honig, 1996; Davidsson & Honig, 2003). Examples of used aspects of human capital are: years of education, years of work experience and previous entrepreneurial experience (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). Education is found to have a positive relationship with entrepreneurial activity and self-employment (Parker S. , 2004; Aidis, Estrin, & Mickiewicz, 2012). Furthermore, the human capital theory has been used in empirical studies to investigate the occupational choice of individuals (Evans & Jovanovic, 1989; Evans & Leighton, 1989; Bates, 1995).

Having experience with markets and customer problems, also known as entrepreneurial knowledge, strengthens the ability of individuals to discover entrepreneurial opportunities (Shane, 2000). Thus, previous knowledge plays an important role in the intellectual performance of an individual (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). While research on sustainable entrepreneurship examining the individual drivers and characteristics of entrepreneurs is still emerging, literature on the human capital theory could help to explain this phenomena. Human capital or more specifically, previous knowledge, of an individual assists in the integration and accumulation of new knowledge and in the integration and adaptation to new situations (Weick, 1996). Furthermore, there are different types of knowledge distinguished in the human capital theory; there is tacit and explicit knowledge (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). Explicit knowledge is knowledge acquired by education, formal and/or informal, to provide useful skills for entrepreneurs; tacit knowledge refers to know-how. Both types of knowledge are very important for entrepreneurs when solving problems and making decisions. Knowledge of individuals is found to be increased by education, for example by formal education as schooling or informal education as work experience. (Davidsson & Honig, 2003)

Several studies investigated this relation between experience and entrepreneurial activity, however the results have been mixed (Davidsson, 1989). Some empirical studies found that human capital in the form of experience, for example labor market experience, management experience and previous entrepreneurial experience, are significantly positively related to entrepreneurial activity (Robinson & Sexton, 1994; Gimeno, Folta, Cooper, & Woo, 1997; Davidsson & Honig, 2003). Especially the

entrepreneurial experience is found to be positively related to entrepreneurial activity (Davidsson & Honig, 2003).

Human capital theory and sustainable entrepreneurship

In this empirical research, the human capital theory will be used in order to explain differences between traditional and sustainable entrepreneurs. In this chapter recent literature concerning entrepreneurs in general is discussed above. Now we will look explicitly at sustainable entrepreneurs, concluding with the formation of the hypotheses. As this is the first paper examining the relation between the human capital theory and sustainable entrepreneurs (at the individual level), the empirical literature on this subject is scarce. However, there are some case-studies and empirical studies concerning this relationship.

Firstly, Larson (2000) found in his case-study that knowledge, in the form of experience, was crucial in order to operate a sustainable venture. Specifically, when obtaining resources and creating a secure sustainable business, knowledge and experience are crucial factors. This former experience is said to be even more important for sustainable entrepreneurs as they operate in (relatively) new markets (Larson, 2000). Furthermore, it is found that experience is a key factor for entrepreneurs in new markets (as the market for sustainability) with novel technologies or business plans (Packalen, 2007). A positive relationship is found between prior industry knowledge and performance (Cooper & Bruno, 1977; Feeser & Willard, 1990; Gimeno , Folta, Cooper, & Woo, 1997). This relation could be applicable to sustainable entrepreneurs because of the novel environment they operate in. This leads to the formation of the first hypotheses:

Hypothesis 1: Human capital increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, relative to the probability of being a traditional entrepreneur.

Hypothesis 1a looks specifically at the relationship between human capital, prior entrepreneurial experience, the (self-perceived) presence of required skills, age and education, where hypothesis 1b investigates whether this relationship is stronger for sustainable entrepreneurs than for traditional entrepreneurs. As the human capital theory mostly uses knowledge as an explanatory factor, we will now discuss the social capital theory. This theory adds a further layer of analysis as it takes the social environment of an entrepreneur into account.

2.2.2 Social capital theory

The social capital theory has been defined in a number of ways, but refers in general to the ability of individuals to extract benefits from their social structures, such as networks and memberships (Lin, Ensel, & Vaughn, 1981; Portes, 1998) These networks of social relations are characterized by norms of trust and interaction that can improve the efficiency of society by easing coordinated actions that take place (Lehtonen, 2004). Furthermore, the social networks as extended family, community and organizational relationships are said to supplement the effect of education, experience and financial capital (Bourdieu, 1983; Coleman, 1988).

However, different views of the concept of social capital can be found in the literature. The least comprehensive view describes social capital as a set of horizontal associations between people, social networks and associated norms that have an effect on the productivity of the community (Putnam, 1993). A broader definition includes horizontal and vertical associations and includes behavior among other entities as firms as well and describes social capital as 'a variety of different entities with two elements in common: they all consist of some aspect of social structure, and they facilitate certain actions of actors, whether individuals or corporate actors, within the structure' (Coleman, 1988). Lastly, the most comprehensive view includes also the (in) formal institutions and defines social capital as 'the social and political environment that enables norms to develop and shapes social structure' (Grootaert, 1998; Woolcock, 2001). Because of the inclusion of the institutions, this definition is most popular by economists (Lehtonen, 2004).

Determinants of social capital are for example personal characteristics such as age or gender, family characteristics, experience like education, employment, attitudes and values (Lehtonen, 2004). Furthermore, there are different dimensions of social capital, the horizontal and vertical dimension. The horizontal dimension itself contains a distinction between 'bonding' and 'bridging' social capital. *Bonding* social capital refers to the more internal organizational relations, between family members and close friends. *Bridging* social capital refers to more external relations, between more distant friends, partners and colleagues. (Putnam, 1993; Adler & Kwon, 2002; Lehtonen, 2004; Estrin, Mickiewicz, & Stephan, 2013) The vertical dimension of social capital, 'linking' social capital, has the function to leverage sources, ideas and information from formal institutions beyond the community (Woolcock, 2001).

The use of the social capital theory is mainly trying to explain the differences in economic development between societies with different level of social integration. While economists agree on the fact that social capital benefits the economy, the question how these social networks positively influence the economy is a subject of debate. However, it is clear that information sharing, activity

coordination and collective decision-making are examples of beneficial functions of social capital. (Lehtonen, 2004) Besides the social capital theorists, also some criticizers can be found in the literature (Sobel, 2002; Dolfsma & Danreuther, 2003). But, not all of the criticism is legitimized, social capital theorists are aware of the need to distinguish sources of social capital from its outcomes (Sobel, 2002; Dolfsma & Danreuther, 2003). Furthermore, although scholars using the social capital theory often see it as a resource for economic growth and development, they do recognise that social capital is simultaneously an input to and an output of the development process (Grootaert, 1998). The fact that social capital is defined in many ways, keeping the concept vague is a problem for economists using this theory (Lehtonen, 2004).

In this thesis, social capital is interpreted as the ability of individuals to extract benefits from their social structures, such as networks and memberships (Lin, Ensel, & Vaughn, 1981; Portes, 1998). Benefits of a social structure can be seen as the provision of concrete resources, such as loans or intangible information (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). These resources provide the bonding or bridging aspect of social capital (Putnam, 1993). The ties constructed by social capital can be weak or strong. Strong ties are seen in cases where family members provide resources; weak ties are for example memberships in a certain organization. The interest in this study lies in the factors related to social relations, when facing market or hierarchically based relations (Adler & Kwon, 2002).

Social capital and entrepreneurship

When looking at social capital from an entrepreneurial perspective, social capital provides networks, resources and information for the entrepreneur (Uzzi, 1999; Downing, 2005). This effect of social capital will increase the chances of entrepreneurs discovering opportunities (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). Thus, the expectation is that social capital can provide necessary resources and could be a very important factor in environments as new industries, new products, new markets and new technologies (Leff, 1979). As the focus in this study is individual characteristics and drivers of (sustainable) entrepreneurs, it is important to look at the individual indicators of the social capital theory.

Besides having knowledge through education, there are more forms of knowledge providing a good base for becoming an entrepreneur. Having connection and networks of family or friends that started a business could provide knowledge in the form of social capital for an entrepreneur. The former examples are examples of bonding social capital, which are based on strong ties for the entrepreneur. (Davidsson & Honig, 2003) When looking at the gains of social capital from an entrepreneurial perspective, social capital provides networks, resources and information for the entrepreneur (Uzzi, 1999). It is empirically found that social capital provides a basis for the financing

of a new venture (Reed & DeFillippi, 1995; Baron & Markman, 2003; Packalen, 2007). This effect of social capital will increase the chances of entrepreneurs discovering opportunities (Davidsson & Honig, 2003) and enhancing these opportunities (Aldrich & Zimmer, 1990). Individual social capital is furthermore empirically found to be positively associated with entrepreneurial discovery of opportunities (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). Empirical research found that knowing other entrepreneurs has a positive relationship with starting a new venture by a nascent entrepreneur, because the established entrepreneur could provide (relevant) information, and thus reduces uncertainty for the nascent entrepreneur (Wennekers, Thurik, van Stel, & Reynolds, 2005). Furthermore, this connection is found to reduce the costs of starting a new business for the nascent entrepreneur (Minniti, 2005).

Social capital and sustainable entrepreneurship

Because of the positive relationship between individual social capital and the discovery of opportunities (Davidsson & Honig, 2003), the expectation is that social capital can provide necessary resources and could be a very important factor in environments as new industries, new products, new markets and new technologies (Leff, 1979; Shane & Venkataraman, 2000). As sustainable enterprises often are focusing on new markets (with novel technologies or business plans), it is expected that social capital will have a higher positive relationship with becoming a sustainable entrepreneur as with becoming a traditional entrepreneur (Packalen, 2007). Social capital is very important for sustainable entrepreneurs, as more information and knowledge of other persons will increase their chances of success (Reed & DeFillippi, 1995; Baron & Markman, 2003), and thus will increase the probability of an entrepreneur starting (owning) a sustainable venture against starting (owning) a traditional venture. Also, the strong ties of an individual, are found to be an important factor in order to start a sustainable venture (Meek, Pacheco, & York, 2010).

Furthermore, sustainable entrepreneurs are found to emphasize the need for social capital in their business models, because they mostly operate in new markets (Schlange, 2006). In these new markets there is no guiding experience present, which creates an important role for social capital, especially for the creation of business networks (Schlange, 2006). Furthermore, Larson (2000) found in his case-study that the formation of a network is crucial in order to operate a sustainable (innovative) venture. These networks are said to be more important for sustainable entrepreneurs than for traditional entrepreneurs, however, no empirical evidence is provided in the paper. In order to test if this statement could be empirically proven, the second hypotheses are formulated as follows:

Hypothesis 2: Social capital increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, relative to the probability of being a traditional entrepreneur.

3. Data and methodology

3.1 Data source and definitions

In order to conduct global research on entrepreneurship at the individual level, the most complete source of information is the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor (GEM)-database. GEM collects data yearly from a survey. Starting with a few countries only, since 1999 the data collection consists of information from more than 85 countries. Furthermore, the data consists of an assessment of entrepreneurial activity, aspirations and attitudes of the adult population in this wide range of countries. Several special topic surveys have taken place the last years and in 2009 the special topic was 'social entrepreneurship activity'. With this survey, data has been collected including the entrepreneurial objectives of individuals. In total approximately 180.000 individuals have been interviewed in 55 different countries. This data was collected with the Adult Population Survey (APS) and represents the first global and harmonized assessment of social entrepreneurship activity. One of the advantages of the GEM-dataset is that all definitions used are presented the same to all respondents in all 55 countries, making the results clear and easy to compare (Acs, Desai, & Klapper, 2008). The sample used in the empirical research contains the information of interviewed individuals in 52 countries, because of the limited number of observations in three of the countries.

The definition used for 'sustainable entrepreneurship' in this thesis is based on the answers of the respondents in the GEM Survey 2009 for the question '*please allocate a total of 100 points across the three categories, as it pertains your goal: how many points for economic value, social value and for environmental value?*¹ This question defines whether an entrepreneur's orientation is more environmental, social or economical. As discussed in the theoretical framework, sustainable entrepreneurs are defined to have both environmental and social goals in particular in this thesis. Thus, this dataset matches the hypotheses formulated in the theoretical framework.

3.2 Variables

3.2.1 Dependent variable

The dependent variable in this research is a variable which indicates whether an entrepreneur is traditional or sustainable. As described above, this information is obtained from the question about the allocation of the points for the different goals. Because of the broad definition of 'sustainable entrepreneurship' in this thesis, the points given for the social value and the points given for the environmental value will be accumulated into the category 'sustainable'. This means that the total of

¹ This correspondents with question 2K, 3K and 6B15 in the survey

100 points will be spread over two categories of goals: sustainable and economical. Most respondents spread their points over both categories, as pointed out in the theoretical framework (figure 2). Thus, most respondents have as well sustainable goals as economical goals for their venture. In order to define an entrepreneur as 'traditional' or 'sustainable' a certain boundary has to be set, a minimum of points have to be given to the sustainable goals in order to be defined as a sustainable entrepreneur. A value of 70 points or higher, given by the individual, for sustainable goals will be seen as a sustainable entrepreneur, otherwise (thus for a value of 69 points and lower for sustainable goals) the individual will be categorized as a traditional entrepreneur. The value of 70 for this boundary has been selected because the value should be above 50, considering that an entrepreneur cannot be defined sustainable while the sustainable goals are minor in their business perspective, and could not be too high, considering that (some) economical goals are relevant in order to sustain a business.² For a more extensive discussion of this boundary see chapter 4.4. Furthermore, the dependent variable is a dummy variable; it will take the value 1 if an entrepreneur is categorized as a sustainable entrepreneur and the value 0 if the entrepreneur is categorized as a traditional entrepreneur.

3.2.2 Independent variables

In order to test the different hypotheses, four different independent variables are included in the model testing the human capital theory, and two independent variables are included in the model testing the social capital theory. In the first model, testing hypothesis 1, knowledge is found to be the main independent variable for testing the influence of human capital. In order to test for the influence of knowledge, four possible indicators are selected from the data to include in the model as explanatory variables. The first 2 variables are constructed from question 1f and question 1i of the GEM Survey. The first indicates whether an individual 'in the past 12 months has sold, shut down, discontinued or quit a business that the individual owned and managed, any form of self employment, or selling goods or services to anyone', thus this variable is containing information about existing (recent) prior entrepreneurial experience. If an individual recently was owner/manager of a business, this means that the individual has some prior entrepreneurial experience. From the data a binary variable is created; the entrepreneur could answer this question with YES or NO. YES meaning that there is (recent) prior entrepreneurial experience and NO meaning there is no prior entrepreneurial experience. Question 1i indicates whether an individual 'thinks he has the knowledge, skill and experience to start a new business'. Again, a binary variable is created with the data, skills; the entrepreneur could answer YES or NO. YES meaning that the individual thinks he has

² In order to validate this boundary, the hypotheses will also be conducted using a value of 60 and 80 points.

the required knowledge and NO meaning that the individual does not think he has the required knowledge. Both variables will be used in order to test hypothesis 1.

As seen earlier, education is an important factor increasing experience (knowledge) of individuals. Previous research found a relationship between education, entrepreneurship and success, most studies found that education produced nonlinear effects in supporting the probability of becoming an entrepreneur, or in achieving success as an entrepreneur (Reynolds, 1997; Honig, 1996; Gimeno, Folta, Cooper, & Woo, 1997; Davidsson & Honig, 2003). Education is found to be particularly important for the female entrepreneurs when compared with the male entrepreneurs (Bates, 1995; Robinson & Sexton, 1994; Gimeno J., Folta, Cooper, & Woo, 1997). Furthermore, an individual's prior knowledge of the environment, their motivation for personal gains and their motivation for societal gains are strengtheners of sustainable entrepreneurial activity (Patzelt & Sheperd, 2011). The variable describing the *education* level is based on the highest level of education completed. It is a categorical variable, containing 5 categories, varying from no education to being a graduate. The base category is 'no education'.

The last independent variable in the first model is *age*. This continuous variable indicates the age of an individual, ranging from 18-99. Age is also found to be an indicator of human capital, as an increase in age increases the experience of an individual (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). In order to interpret this variable more clearly, because the outcomes are very small numbers, the age will be divided by 10. Furthermore the square will be taken in order to check for non-linear relationship.

In order to test hypothesis 1 all four independent variables are included in the first model. This is possible because there are no signs found of multicollinearity between these four variables, the correlations are all found to be under 0.07.³

In order to test hypothesis 2 two different indicators for social capital will be used. The two different indicators contain information about social ties, as found to be an important factor, influencing the choice of becoming a sustainable or traditional entrepreneur, in the literature research. Question 1d and 1g from the GEM Survey will be used in order to find the influence of networks on the chance of being a sustainable entrepreneur. The first indicates whether an individual personally provided funds for a new business started by someone else in the past three years. From the data a binary variable is created, *provided capital*; the entrepreneur could answer with YES or NO. YES meaning that the individual has provided funds in the past three years. The second measure indicates whether the entrepreneur personally knows an individual who started a business in the past two years. From the

³ See the correlation matrix on page 24.

data a binary variable is created, *knowing entrepreneurs*; the entrepreneur could answer with YES or NO. YES meaning that the entrepreneur personally knows an individual that has started a business in the past two years. As the correlation of the two variables is 0.14, there is no problem of multincollinearity when including both variables.

3.2.3 Control variables

In all models, different control variables will be used. The relevant control variables are gender, risk attitude, entrepreneurial stage, reason entrepreneurial activity and country. These individual characteristics are included because gender, entrepreneurial stage and risk attitude are found to possibly influence the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur compared to a traditional entrepreneur. Furthermore previous literature controls for the country the entrepreneur lives in (Estrin, Mickiewicz, & Stephan, 2013).

Previous research found that women are less likely (than men) to become either social or commercial entrepreneurs, but more likely to be social as compared to commercial entrepreneurs (Aidis, Estrin, & Mickiewicz, 2012; Estrin, Mickiewicz, & Stephan, 2013). This leads to the inclusion of the control variable *gender*. This variable is a dummy variable, taking the value 1 if the individual is male and 0 if the individual is female, and is included in order to control for differences in gender.

Second, empirical evidence is found for the statement that individuals that become entrepreneurs are more risk tolerant than non-entrepreneurs (Gunther McGrath & MacMillan, 1992). When examining the different types of entrepreneurs, sustainable entrepreneurs operate in a field where being innovative is important: creating opportunities for sustainable development, while creating economical value at the same time requires innovativeness (Cohen & Winn, 2007). Previous research found that sustainable entrepreneurs are facing more risk as they operate in a highly innovative and new market (Matos & Hall, 2007). When combining these results it could be argued that sustainable entrepreneurs are more risk-tolerant than traditional entrepreneurs. In the model, the risk attitude examines the differences in risk-appetite of entrepreneurs. In order to test for this we will look at a variable describing the *fear of failure* of an individual, using the following question: 'Fear of failure would prevent you from starting a business'. From the data a binary variable is created; the entrepreneur could answer with YES or NO. YES meaning that the individual would be prevented from starting a business because of fear of failure, while NO means that this fear of failure would not prevent the individual from starting a business.

Third, a variable containing information about the entrepreneurial stage is taken into account, *early-stage entrepreneur*. This variable is a dummy variable, indicating whether an individual is currently trying to set up a business or has a young business, or if the individual is an established entrepreneur.

The construction of this variable is based on four questions in the survey, following Reynolds et al. (2005) and Estrin et al. (2013). An individual is categorized as an early stage entrepreneur, an entrepreneur trying to start a business or having a young business, if this individual meets with the following four statements:

- Answered the following question: 'You are, alone or with others, currently trying to start a new business, including any self-employment or selling any goods or services to others' with YES. And,
- 2. answered the following question: 'Over the past 12 months you have done anything to help start a new business, such as looking for equipment or a location, organizing a start-up team, working on a business plan, beginning to save money, or any other activity that would help launch a business?' with YES. And,
- answered the following question: 'Will you personally own all, part or none of this business' with ALL or PART. And,
- 4. answered the following question: 'Has the new business paid any salaries, wages, or payments in kind, including your own, for more than three months?' With YES.

The first three questions indicate whether the individual is a nascent entrepreneur. The last question includes the young entrepreneurs. Thus, an early stage entrepreneur is an individual trying to start/starting a business, which he/she will partly own, or an individual owning or managing a young business. If the individual does not meet with all four statements above, the entrepreneur is not an early stage entrepreneur. As the respondents of the survey are all entrepreneurs, this individual will be categorized as an established entrepreneur, meaning that this individual is the owner or manager of an established firm.

This variable is included in the model in order to control for differences between starting or young entrepreneurs and entrepreneurs that are owner or manager of an established firm. Previous research found differences between nascent and established entrepreneurs (Davidsson & Honig, 2003; Aidis, Estrin, & Mickiewicz, 2012; Estrin, Mickiewicz, & Stephan, 2013). For nascent entrepreneurs it is found that there is a higher uncertainty (Wennekers, Thurik, van Stel, & Reynolds, 2005), and thus the entrepreneurial stage could influence the probability of being a sustainable or a traditional entrepreneur.

Fourth, a categorical variable containing information about the *reason* of entrepreneurial activity of the individual is taken into account. In order to control for significant differences in the drivers of sustainable entrepreneurial activity and traditional entrepreneurial activity, this variable is included. As found in the literature concerning occupational choice, there are many different (significant)

reasons why some individuals become entrepreneurs and others become employees (Parker, 2004; Poschke, 2013). The reason why an individual becomes an entrepreneur could also influence the allocation of entrepreneurship, whether an individual becomes a sustainable or traditional entrepreneur. In literature, some authors consider that the reason why an individual becomes an entrepreneur could play a role in the allocation of entrepreneurship (Cohen & Winn, 2007; Gibbs, 2009). In order to test for this influence of the reason, a variable is included in the model in order to control for this relationship. This variable contains 5 categories of reasons:

- 1. In order to take advantage of business opportunity
- 2. No better choices for work
- 3. Combination of both of the above
- 4. Have a job but seek better opportunities
- 5. Other

Furthermore *country* dummies are included in order to control for country effects. The home country of the entrepreneurs could influence the results, thus dummies for the 52 different countries are included in the model.⁴ The reference country used is the USA, as the USA is one of the largest and well-known countries and is commonly used as a reference country is existing empirical literature.

3.3 Empirical approach

To investigate the research questions and test the hypotheses both descriptive and econometric analysis will be conducted. In order to explore the data, the mean and standard deviation of all the variables will be collected and shown in a summary table together with the definition of the variables. Furthermore some tests will be conducted in order to test for differences of the individual variables on the dependent variable. Lastly, a correlation matrix will be included.

In order to test the different hypotheses an econometric analysis will be conducted, containing different regressions. In this research the thinking in most hypotheses is in probabilities, thus a logistic regression will be used. A logistic regression is a type of regression analysis used for predicting the outcome of a categorical dependent variable. In case the dependent variable is a binary variable a special case of the logistic regression has to be used, namely a binary logistic regression. Binary logistic regression is a regression method used to measure the relationship

⁴ Countries included are: United States, South-Africa, Greece, Netherlands, Belgium, Spain, Hungary, Italy, Romania, Switzerland, United Kingdom, Denmark, Norway, Germany, Peru, Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Malaysia, Japan, Korea, China, Iran, Morocco, Algeria, Uganda, Iceland, Finland, Latvia, Serbia, Croatia, Slovenia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Guatemala, Panama, Venezuela, Ecuador, Uruguay, Tonga, Shenzhen, Hong Kong, Jamaica, Lebanon, Jordan, Syria, Saudi Arabia, Yemen, West Bank & Gaza Strip, United Arab Emirates, Israel.

between a categorical dependent variable and one (or more) independent variables. In a logistic regression model the dependent variable will be converted to probability scores. When the categorical dependent variable is a binary variable the problem is limited to two possible categories as outcome and could be seen as a dummy variable, it either takes the value 1 or 0. The dependent variable in this research takes the value 1, if the entrepreneur is a sustainable entrepreneur and value 0 if the entrepreneur is a traditional entrepreneur. Thus, using the binary logistic regression model, we can examine the relation between the main dependent variable, whether an individual is a sustainable entrepreneur or a traditional entrepreneur, and the different independent variables and thereby translate the effect into probabilities. Furthermore the control variables will be included in the empirical model in order to control for systematic differences.

The model used is the following:

(1)
$$E(Y|X) = Pr(Y=1|X) = 60 + 61 a + 62 b + + \epsilon$$

Furthermore the (average) marginal effects will be calculated in order to interpret the results relative to the predicted probability of the being a sustainable entrepreneur. In the next chapter the results of the empirical results will be discussed.

4. Results

In this chapter the results of the descriptive and econometric analysis, testing the two hypotheses, will be discussed. First we will look at the descriptive results of the data, followed by the results of the empirical analysis of the hypotheses.

4.1 Descriptive analysis

In the dataset, a total of 25,557 entrepreneurs is taken into account in the empirical analysis. Out of this total number of entrepreneurs, 21,802 entrepreneurs are categorized as traditional entrepreneurs (meaning that the score for having social and/or environmental goals is <70) and a total of 3,755 are categorized as sustainable entrepreneurs (meaning that the score for having social and/or environmental goals is \geq 70). The dataset contains more traditional than sustainable entrepreneurs, which is a fair representation of the current situation (Austin, Stevenson, & Wei-Skillern, 2006).

As robustness check of the value of 70 or higher in order to be categorized as a sustainable entrepreneur, different boundaries were tested. A boundary of 60 points does not separate the 'real' sustainable entrepreneurs from the 'semi' sustainable entrepreneurs enough. And thus, this boundary did not show as many significant results as a boundary of 70 points, indicating that the differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs are not significant for such a low boundary. Because we want to find the differences between the two groups of entrepreneurs, this boundary is not sufficient. When investigating the hypotheses with a boundary of 80 points, the sample of sustainable entrepreneurs became very small, reducing the explanatory power of the results. Thus, the boundary of 70 points is used in the (empirical) analyses.

In table A^5 the descriptive statistics of the dependent variable are presented. In table B^6 definition and descriptive statistics of the explanatory variables and control variables are summarized, following the individual responses in the survey. It can be seen from table B that there are some (small) differences between the sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs. The column containing information about the mean of the two categories of entrepreneurs shows that traditional entrepreneurs score slightly higher on *prior entrepreneurial experience* and *skills*, while sustainable entrepreneurs are older (*age*) and score slightly higher on *education*. For *provided capital*, the

⁵ See table A in the Appendix

⁶ See table B in the Appendix

sustainable entrepreneurs score slightly higher, while the traditional entrepreneurs score higher for *knowing entrepreneurs*.

These differences are investigated using a bivariate empirical analysis, Pearson's Chi Square-test. The results of this test are also presented in this table, in the last column. With this test it is possible to investigate the differences in the characteristics of the two groups, the traditional and the sustainable entrepreneurs; more specifically this test investigates whether the different independent variables are significantly different for the two groups. In this test, the dependent variable consists of the values of two outcomes (1=sustainable entrepreneur, 0= traditional entrepreneur) and the null hypothesis is that the occurrence of these outcomes is statistically independent for every independent variable.

As clear in table B in the Appendix, for most independent variables, the p-scores are very small. Based on the small p-scores we can reject the null hypothesis of independence and could confirm that the different outcomes of the dependent variable are dependent on the explanatory (independent) variables. However, for the parameters for the social capital theory, *provided capital* and *knowing entrepreneurs*, the null hypothesis cannot be rejected, thus the dependence of the different outcomes between the two groups cannot be confirmed (individually) using this Pearson's Chi Square – test.

The first hypothesis, testing the influence of human capital on the probability of being a sustainable or traditional entrepreneur, could be confirmed by the bivariate analysis of all four possible indicators. The outcome of being a sustainable or traditional entrepreneur depends on all four variables individually. The answers by the respondents concerning prior entrepreneurial experience are significantly different at the 5 percent level, the self-said presence of skills, age and education show differences even at the one percent level. Thus, the first hypothesis can be confirmed using this bivariate analysis.

The second hypothesis, testing the influence of social capital on the probability of being a sustainable or traditional entrepreneur, could not be confirmed using the bivariate analysis. No (significant) dependent relation is found between the probability of being a sustainable or traditional entrepreneur and both indicators for social capital; the answers by the respondent concerning *provided capital* and *knowing entrepreneurs* did not differ significantly.

The relevant sample includes 3.755 sustainable entrepreneurs from 52 different countries. In table C^7 the frequency and percentage of sustainable entrepreneurs is shown for each country. The United

⁷ See table C in the Appendix

Kingdom has the largest number of sustainable entrepreneurs, while Ecuador has the smallest number of sustainable entrepreneurs. European countries show the highest number of sustainable entrepreneurs.

Furthermore, a correlation matrix is included in order to test for possible multicollinearity problems in the data. In the table below, it is clear that there are no problems of multicollinearity between the different variables, as the highest correlation is -0.221. Thus all variables can be included jointly in the regression analysis.

Variable 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 1 Sustainable 1 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10	11
1 Sustainable	
entrepreneur 1.000	
2. Prior entrepreneurial experience -0.015* 1.000	
3. Skills -0.023* 0.054* 1.000	
4. Age/10^2 0.040* -0.053* -0.010 1.000	
5. Education 0.084* -0.033* 0.068* -0.036* 1.000	
6. Provided capital 0.007 0.162* 0.051* -0.034* 0.029* 1.000	
7. Knowing entrepreneurs -0.010 0.087* 0.113* -0.164* 0.078* 0.139* 1.000	
8. Gender 0.039* -0.009 -0.070* -0.032* -0.039* -0.048* -0.074* 1.000	
9. Fear of failure -0.011 -0.004 -0.146* -0.021* -0.043* -0.010 -0.030* 0.060* 1.000	
10. Early stage -0.009 0.113* 0.070* -0.221* 0.091* 0.100* 0.150* -0.007 -0.023* 1.000	
11. Reason 0.017* -0.014* -0.012 0.060* 0.004 -0.023 -0.041* 0.006 0.030* -0.018*	1.000

Table 2: Correlation matrix

Note: Pearson correlation coefficients based on the entire model, i.e. model 4. * p<0.05

Source: GEM Survey 2009: 'social entrepreneurship'

4.2 Empirical analysis Logit

In this chapter the results of the multivariate empirical analyses will be discussed. The table below, table 3, shows the average marginal effects that have been derived from the four logit models, introduced in the previous section, with *sustainable entrepreneur* as dependent variable. In the first model, the average marginal effects are conducted including just the control variables in the model. By testing a model with just the control variables it is possible to see the difference in explanatory power of the model by including the independent variables, in order to test if the independent variables (significantly) influence the outcome of the dependent variable. For all three following models the pseudo R2 is higher than for the first model, indicating that the explanatory variables increase the explanatory power of the model, and thus are variables of interest. In model 2 the marginal effects are conducted when investigating hypothesis 1, the influence of the human capital theory on being a traditional or sustainable entrepreneur. In model 3, hypothesis 2 is tested using

the indicators of the social capital theory as explanatory variables. In model 4 the entire model is tested in order to answer the main research question.

The predicted probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur is approximately 0.13 in all models, or 13 percent. Since all four models have quite similar numbers of observations and the share of sustainable entrepreneurs is equal in each model, the predicted probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur does not differ a lot between the models.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Predicted probability: Sustainable entrepreneur	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13
Prior optropropourial experience		0 0150**		0 0175**
		-0.0138		-0.0175
Skille		(0.0073)		(0.0075)
20112		-0.0127		-0.0133
Ago/1042		0.0009)		0.0070)
Age/10 2		(0.0012)		(0.0012)
Age/10		-0.0310***		-0.0311***
Age/ 10		(0.0103)		(0.0104)
Education: Some secondary		0.0136		0.0133
		(0.0090)		(0.0091)
Education: Secondary degree		0.0194**		0.0186**
		(0.0086)		(0.0087)
Education: Post secondary		0.0276***		0.0265***
		(0.0089)		(0.0090)
Education: Graduate		0.0491***		0.0481***
		(0.0155)		(0.0156)
Povided capital			0.0125	0.0148*
			(0.0078)	(0.0081)
Knowing entrepreneurs			-0.0071	-0.0056
			(0.0047)	(0.0049)
Gender	0.0225***	0.0213***	0.0231***	0.0219***
	(0.0047)	(0.0048)	(0.0047)	(0.0049)
Fear of failure	-0.0018	0.0014	-0.0022	0.0009
	(0.0051)	(0.0052)	(0.0051)	(0.0053)
Early stage entrepreneur	0.0392***	0.0428***	0.0400***	0.0432***
	(0.0052)	(0.0056)	(0.0054)	(0.0056)
Reason: Take advantage of business opportunity	-0.0598***	-0.0600***	-0.0594***	-0.0599***
	(0.0081)	(0.0083)	(0.0082)	(0.0083)
Reason: No better choices for work	-0.0410***	-0.0395***	-0.0414***	-0.0401***
	(0.0087)	(0.0089)	(0.0088)	(0.0090)

Table 3: Average marginal effects from logistic regression with sustainable entrepreneur as dependent variable

Table 3 continued

Reason: Combination of both above	-0.0660***	-0.0602***	-0.0662***	-0.0607***
	(0.0100)	(0.0101)	(0.0101)	(0.0102)
Reason: Have a job but seek better opportunities	-0.0709***	-0.0723***	-0.0712***	-0.0730***
	(0.0127)	(0.0123)	(0.0129)	(0.0131)
Observations	22,881	21,953	22,535	21,654
Pseudo R2	0.0628	0.0657	0.0633	0.0661

Note: Reference category for *education* is 'no education'. Reference category for *reason* is: 'other'. Country dummies included (52). Standard errors in parentheses, *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 *Source:* GEM Survey 2009: 'social entrepreneurship'

4.2.1 Results concerning human capital

In the second model hypothesis 1 is tested, stating that there is a positive relationship between human capital and owning a sustainable venture. This hypothesis can be confirmed partly by the second model. For the first two indicators, *prior entrepreneurial experience* and *the self-said presence of skills*, a significant (at the 5 percent level) negative relationship is found concerning the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. Since average marginal effects are shown, the coefficient can be interpreted as well. On average, entrepreneurs that have (recent) prior entrepreneurial experience will have a 1.58 percentage point lower predicted probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, ceteris paribus. However, the predicted probability of the model for being a sustainable entrepreneur, when having (recent) prior experience decreases to 11.42 percent. *The self-said presence of skills*, decreases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, on average and ceteris paribus, by 1.27 percentage point, which implies a total predicted probability of 11.73 percent.

For the indicator age, a significant (at the one percent level) positive-shaped relationship is found. Both variables were included because of potential non-linearity. The negative influence of age/10 shows that if the individuals are older it is less likely that these individuals are sustainable entrepreneurs, the positive influence of age/10^2 shows that there is a U-shape of this age effect. The age found at the lowest point of the U-shape is 39.47 years⁸. This means that the effect of age decreases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur until an individual is approximately 39 years old, after this age the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur will increase. As the average age of the sample is 41 years, the lowest point of the U-shape is at an average age. This means that part of the sample experiences the negative effect of age, while the other part of the sample experiences the positive effect of age.

Lastly, for the indicator education, a(n) (in)significant positive relationship is found. The effect of an increase in education significantly increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. For

⁸ The relevant calculation is: (-(-0.0310) / (2 * 0.0039))* 10 = 39.47

some secondary education, a positive insignificant effect is found. This implies that there are no significant differences between entrepreneurs with no education or some secondary education on the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. Individuals with a secondary degree or higher have a significant higher probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, compared to individuals with no education. This means that the positive effect of education on the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur only exists for the higher categories of education. Being a graduate (relative to having no education) increases the predicted probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, on average, by 4.91 percentage points to 17.91 percent, ceteris paribus. Furthermore, we can see from table 3 that the size of the effect of education increases with the level of education. This means that the higher the level of education, the larger the positive effect on the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. Thus higher levels of education increase the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, ceteris paribus and compared to having no education.

The number of observations is lower in this model, due to limited data availability for some of the variables. The R2 of this model is higher than the R2 of the first model with just the control variables, indicating that the explanatory power of the model increased with the inclusion of the independent variables. Lastly, it is notable that *education* showed an overall positive influence on the predicted probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. However, (recent) *prior entrepreneurial experience* and *self-perceived presence of skills* showed a negative (individual) effect on being a sustainable entrepreneur. For *age*, a non linear U-shaped effect has been found. Thus, significant differences are found between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs using the indicators for the human capital theory. However, the sign of most of the indicators is opposite to the expected sign.

4.2.2 Results concerning social capital

Model 3 in table 3 shows the results concerning hypothesis 2. This hypothesis cannot be confirmed using this model, as an insignificant positive relationship between *provided capital* and the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur is found. This means that no significant differences have been found between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs in terms of providing capital. Sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs both could have provided capital for others in the past three years, there is no significant difference between the two groups. Furthermore, an insignificant negative relationship has been found between *knowing entrepreneurs* and the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. Again, no significant differences have been found concerning the network of the entrepreneur with other entrepreneurs (that started a business in the past two years). Bonding and bridging social capital thus does not significantly increase (change) the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, as expected. These results will be elaborated further in the discussion.

4.2.3 Results complete model

The fourth model combines all models and investigates the role of human capital and social capital on being a sustainable entrepreneur, while including the control variables. The coefficients for prior entrepreneurial experience, skills and age/10 were slightly larger than in model 2, the coefficients for age/10^2 and education are slightly lower. This is caused by the inclusion of the social capital indicators in the fourth model. These variables partly explain some of the variance that first was explained by the human capital variables, as the coefficient for the social capital indicators increased. The sign and significance of the variables concerning human capital are similar to the sign and significance found in the second model. A significant negative relationship between (recent) prior entrepreneurial experience and being a sustainable entrepreneur, a significant negative relationship between self-perceived presence of skills and being a sustainable entrepreneur, a significant Ushaped relationship between age and being a sustainable entrepreneur and lastly a positive (in)significant relationship between *education* and being a sustainable entrepreneur. When an individual has more knowledge based on a higher level of education, the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur increases, as found in the literature. However, an increase in (recent) prior entrepreneurial experience or skills does decrease the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. This implicates that individuals that have been owner/manager of a business before, are more likely to be a traditional entrepreneur relative to being a sustainable entrepreneur. As well as individuals that think they have the knowledge, skill and experience required to start a new business, these more confident individuals are more likely to be a traditional entrepreneur relative to being a sustainable entrepreneur. These findings will be elaborated further in the discussion in chapter 5.

The indicators for social capital have changed slightly. The coefficient of the variable *provided capital* increased in coefficient and is significant (at the ten percent level) in the total model. Thus if the entrepreneur provided capital for someone else in the past three years, this increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. The variable *knowing entrepreneurs* increased in coefficient, but still is found to be insignificant in the total model. Again, no significant differences have been found between sustainable entrepreneurs and traditional entrepreneurs when investigating their networks.

Furthermore, all of the control variables are found to be of significant influence at the one percent level in all models, except for fear of failure, which does not show to be significantly different for sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs in all models. This factor will influence both the groups the same way. In the total model, i.e. model 4, being male significantly increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, on average, by 2.19 percentage point, to 15.19 percent, ceteris paribus; this is in line with previous research (Davidsson & Honig, 2003; Estrin, Mickiewicz, & Stephan, 2013).

Being an early stage entrepreneur increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, on average, by 4.32 percentage points, which implies a total predicted probability to 17.32 percent, ceteris paribus. ;Finally, the four different reasons for being an entrepreneur given in the survey are all of significant negative influence on the predicted probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, relative to the reference category: no reason. For example, if the respondent answered 'no better choices for work' this decreases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, on average, by 4.01 percentage points, compared to the reference category 'other reasons'. This implies a total predicted probability of 8.99 percent, ceteris paribus. This finding is interesting, as all four 'standard' reasons used in the survey, do not include the right reason explaining why sustainable entrepreneurs start a venture. This will be discussed further in chapter 5.

When looking at the explanatory power of this total model, it is the highest of all four models, and improved most compared to the base model with just the control variables, indicating that the inclusion of the indicators for both the human capital theory and the social capital theory explains the data best.

Lastly, the results of the logistic regression (i.e. Logit model) for each country are presented in table D⁹. Most countries show a significant positive or negative effect on being a sustainable entrepreneur in all models relative to the reference country, USA. The countries, with a negative effect, relative to the USA, that did not show significant results are Israel, Uganda (model 2 and 4), Chile (model 2 and 4), Algeria, Italy, Colombia (model 2 and 4), Morocco and China (model 2, 3 and 4). A possible explanation for the insignificance of some of these results is that the number of sustainable entrepreneurs was small in these countries.¹⁰ However, Chile and Uganda did have a large number of sustainable entrepreneurs, indicating that living in these countries does not significantly influence the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. We can interpret these country-results as follows: when an entrepreneur lives in Lebanon the predicted probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur decreases, on average, by 12.44 percentage points, compared to an entrepreneur living in the USA, to 0.56 percent, ceteris paribus.

Furthermore, we see that in particular entrepreneurs from African countries, Central and South American countries and East European countries, have a lower probability of being a sustainable

⁹ See table D in the Appendix

¹⁰ See table C in the Appendix

entrepreneur compared to the reference country USA. From these results we can see that the development level of a certain country could play a role in the allocation of entrepreneurship in that country, as most of these (parts of) continents are less developed as for example the Western European countries. This will be discussed further in chapter 5.

Some other countries showed a positive effect compared to the reference country USA. Again, some results were not significant, Jamaica (model 1 and 3), Finland (model 1 and 3), Dominican Republic (model 1 and 3), Argentina (model 1 and 3), Korea (model 4), Iran, United Arab Emirates, Syria, Shenzhen, Latvia (model 1, 2 and 3) and Romania. It is notable that living in South Africa increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, on average, by 14.07 percentage points, compared to an entrepreneur living in the USA, to 27.07 percent, ceteris paribus. While living in other African countries decreases this probability, living in South Africa increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. Most countries that show a positive effect compared to the USA, are developed countries in (Western) Europe and Asia. This indicates again that level of development of a certain country influences the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur.

Furthermore, the regression analysis was conducted while using dummies for the four continents (Europe, America, Asia & Oceania and Africa). The results changed drastically, indicating that further research on this subject could be interesting.

4.3 Interaction effects

Table 4 presents the average marginal effects from the Logit analysis with sustainable entrepreneur as dependent variable and various interaction terms. These interaction terms have been estimated based on the full model presented in table 3. The first interaction term included in the model is *skills x education*. While the variable *skills* does not show a significant influence on the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur on its own, it could influence this probability as an interaction effect. If an individual answered confirmative on the question regarding the *self-perceived presence of skills*, this indicates that the individual is confident. The effect of the self perceived skills could decrease the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur when combined with *education*. The data show that the higher educated individuals answered the question about their skills more often with YES and thus are more confident. When testing for this relationship with an ANOVA test, the significance (at the one percent level) of the relationship was confirmed. Thus, this interaction effect was tested in the total model, i.e. model 4. However, the interaction effect had no significant influence on the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, as can be seen from the results shown in table 4.

Furthermore, an interaction effect could exist between an indicator for human capital and an indicator for social capital, namely; (recent) *prior entrepreneurial experience* and *knowing*

entrepreneurs could influence the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur as an interaction effect. If an individual has prior entrepreneurial experience, this indicates that the individual has been an entrepreneur before (in the past twelve months). This increases the likelihood that the individual has had contact with other entrepreneurs and thus knows other entrepreneurs, as the individual was active in entrepreneurial activities before. Knowing entrepreneurs (that started in the past two years) thus could depend on having (recent) prior entrepreneurial experience. Most entrepreneurs that know other entrepreneurs have prior entrepreneurial experience (72.54 percent against 27.46 percent). However, the ANOVA test and the results in table 4 show that there is no significant interaction effect of prior entrepreneurial knowledge and knowing entrepreneurs.

Lastly, an interaction effect is possible between gender and education. In many countries, men are still higher educated than woman. The percentage of women without education is 14 percent, against 10 percent of the men without education. Furthermore, the men score higher on the three highest levels of education (secondary degree, post secondary, graduate). Thus the gender of an individual could influence the education level, and influence the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur as an interaction effect. When testing for this relationship with an ANOVA test, the significance (at the one percent level) of the relationship was confirmed. Thus, this interaction effect was tested in the total model, i.e. model 4. The results show a significant interaction effect for the category of education 'some secondary'. The other three categories do not show a significant interaction effect. Notable is that the category 'some education' is not significant in the Logit models. However, for the lower category of education an interaction effect is found with gender. This interaction effect decreases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur.

	Model 4	Model 4	Model 4
Predicted probability: Sustainable entrepreneur	0.13	0.13	0.13
Prior entrepreneurial experience	-0.1742**	-0.0186	-0.0166**
	(0.0075)	(0.0136)	(0.0075)
Skills	-0.0020	-0.0133*	-0.0131*
	(0.0124)	(0.0070)	(0.0070)
Age/10^2	0.0038***	0.0039***	0.0038***
	(0.0012)	(0.0012)	(0.0012)
Age/10	-0.0309***	-0.0312***	-0.0300***
	(0.0104)	(0.0104)	(0.0104)
Education: Some secondary	0.0130	0.0133	0.0137
	(0.0085)	(0.0091)	(0.0091)
Education: Secondary degree	0.0288**	0.0186**	0.0180**
	(0.0126)	(0.0091)	(0.0087)
Education: Post secondary	0.0386***	0.0265***	0.0267***
	(0.0139)	(0.0090)	(0.0090)

 Table 4: Average marginal effecs from logit regression with interaction effects

Table 4 continued			
Education: Graduate	0.0663***	0.0481***	0.0492***
	(0.0232)	(0.0156)	(0.0157)
Provided capital	0.0148*	0.0148*	0.0155*
	(0.0081)	(0.0081)	(0.0080)
Knowing entrepreneurs	-0.0053	-0.0058	-0.0054
	(0.0049)	(0.0050)	(0.0049)
Gender	0.0220***	0.0219***	0.0200***
	(0.0048)	(0.0048)	(0.0048)
Fear of failure	0.0012	0.0009	0.0020
	(0.0053)	(0.0052)	(0.0052)
Early stage entrepreneur	0.0433***	0.0432***	0.0440***
	(0.0056)	(0.0056)	(0.0056)
Reason: Take advantage of business opportunity	-0.0597***	-0.0599***	-0.0590***
	(0.0083)	(0.0083)	(0.0083)
Reason: No better choices for work	-0.0396***	-0.0401***	-0.0402***
	(0.0090)	(0.0090)	(0.0090)
Reason: Combination of both above	-0.0599***	-0.0607***	-0.0600***
	(0.0102)	(0.0102)	(0.0102)
Reason: Have a job but seek better opportunities	-0.0718***	-0.0730***	-0.0722***
	(0.0131)	(0.0131)	(0.0131)
Interaction: skills x education: some secondary	0.0157		
	(0.0217)		
Interaction: skills x education: secondary degree	0.0040		
	(0.0197)		
Interaction: skills x education: post secondary	-0.0155		
	(0.0200)		
Interaction: skills x education: graduate	0.0189		
	(0.0414)		
Interaction: prior entrepreneurial experience x knowing entrepreneurs		-0.0017	
		(0.0177)	
Interaction: gender x education: some secondary			-0.0348**
- ,			(0.01756)
Interaction: gender x education: secondary degree			0.0012
			(0.0156)
Interaction: gender x education: post secondary			0.0101
, ,			(0.0155)
Interaction: gender x education: graduate			0.00007
			(0.0247)
Observations	21654	21654	21564
R-squared	0.0663	0.0661	0.0668

Note: Reference category for *education* is 'no education'. Reference category for *reason* is: 'other'. Country dummies included (52). Standard errors in parentheses. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. *Source:* GEM Survey 2009: 'Social entrepreneurship

4.3 Empirical analysis OLS

As a robustness check for the results found in the previous Logit model, also an Ordinary Least Squares regression is conducted. In this model the dependent variable is a continuous variable containing the scores for sustainable objectives (environmental + social goals).¹¹ The independent variables and the control variables are similar to the variables in the logistic regression. Again, four models are shown in the table, table 5, below. Most of the signs and the significance levels are similar to the results of the logistic regression. Regarding the human capital indicators, (recent) *prior entrepreneurial experience*, still shows a negative sign, however it is not significant anymore in model 2. In model 4 this variable is still significant at the 5 percent level. This could be due to the fact that the mean of this variable is smaller than the standard deviation, which could lead to overdispursion. The variable *self-perceived presence of skills* became insignificant in both models. *Age* shows the same results as in the Logit regression, as well as *education*, while education became for the first 2 categories even more significant.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Prior entrepreneurial experience		-0.677		-1.147**
		(0.569)		(0.577)
Skills		-0.546		-0.691
		(0.475)		(0.483)
Age/10^2		0.329***		0.324***
		(0.092)		(0.0170)
Age/10		-2.878***		-2.816***
		(0.790)		(0.798)
Education: Some secondary		1.671***		1.705***
		(0.640)		(0.646)
Education: Secondary degree		1.875***		1.769***
		(0.621)		(0.626)
Education: Post secondary		3.093***		2.911***
		(0.652)		(0.658)
Education: Graduate		4.734***		4.546***
		(1.175)		(1.180)
Provided capital			2.973***	3.017***
			(0.563)	(0.579)
Knowing entrepreneurs			0.438	0.423
			(0.340)	(0.352)
Gender	1.794***	1.838***	1.967***	1.987***
	(0.336)	(0.344)	(0.340)	(0.348)
Fear of failure	-0.936***	-0.830**	-0.949***	-0.850**
	(0.362)	(0.372)	(0.365)	(0.375)

	Table 5: Results OLS	regression with	n sustainable entre	preneur as de	pendent variable
--	----------------------	-----------------	---------------------	---------------	------------------

¹¹ See table E in the Appendix

	F 700***	F C20***	F 401***	
Early stage entrepreneur	5.723***	5.038***	5.491***	5.405***
	(0.369)	(0.389)	(0.377)	(0.394)
Reason: Take advantage of business opportunity	-5.795***	-5.910***	-5.807***	-5.916***
	(0.760)	(0.775)	(0.767)	(0.781)
Reason: No better choices for work	-6.399***	-6.204***	-6.347***	-6.169***
	(0.798)	(0.814)	(0.805)	(0.821)
Reason: Combination of both above	-6.630***	-6.409***	-6.644***	-6.429***
	(0.857)	(0.875)	(0.865)	(0.884)
Reason: Have a job but seek better opportunities	-4.535***	-4.511***	-4.640***	-4.584***
	(0.952)	(0.968)	(0.959)	(0.975)
Constant	14.03***	16.98***	13.37***	16.24***
	-2.263	-3.036	-2.351	-2.665
Observations	22,881	21,953	22,535	21,654
R-squared	0.158	0.161	0.159	0.162

Note: Reference category for *education* is 'no education'. Reference category for *reason* is: 'other'. Country dummies included (52). Robust standard errors in parentheses, *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1. *Source:* GEM Survey 2009: 'social entrepreneurship'

Regarding the indicators for social capital, the sign of *knowing entrepreneurs* changed, however the results are still insignificant. Indicating that knowing entrepreneurs does not influence the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur significantly. The sign of *provided capital* did not change compared to the results in the Logit model. In the third and fourth model this variable became significant (at the one percent level).

The sign and significance of the control variables is the same as in the Logit models. All control variables, except for fail of failure are of significant influence at the one percent level.

The R2 of the OLS models is higher than the models of the logistic regression. This shows that the OLS models explain the variance in the data better than the Logit models. Most of the results did not show major differences, however, (recent) *prior entrepreneurial experience* became less significant (or lost significant influence) while *provided capital* became more significant in the OLS models.

4.4 Model concerning highly sustainable and highly traditional entrepreneurs

As robustness check for the boundary of 70 points, in order to define an entrepreneur as a sustainable entrepreneur, a second Logit model was conducted. In this analysis the four models are conducted, while including a different dependent variable. In order to test if the results are similar in a model using a more extreme difference between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs; in this model the dependent variable is based on the entrepreneurs that scored (very) high (\geq 70 sustainable goals) on sustainable goals against the entrepreneurs that scored (very) high on economical goals

 $(\geq 70 \text{ economical goals})$. Because of this dependent variable, the number of observations decreased, as not all entrepreneurs in the first Logit model meet these definitions. A dummy was created as dependent variable, taking the value 1 if an individual is a highly sustainable entrepreneur while taking the value 0 if the entrepreneur is a highly traditional entrepreneur, see table F in the Appendix. In the table below, table 6, the results of this analysis are shown.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Predicted probability: Highly sustainable entrepreneur	0.22	0.22	0.22	0.22
Prior entrepreneurial experience		-0.0246**		-0.0272**
		(0.0112)		(0.0113)
Skills		-0.0200**		-0.0211**
		(0.0101)		(0.0102)
Age/10^2		0.0074***		0.0073***
		(0.0017)		(0.0018)
Age/10		-0.0645***		-0.0643***
		(0.0154)		(0.0156)
Education: Some secondary		0.0284**		0.0281**
		(0.0132)		(0.0134)
Education: Secondary degree		0.0270**		0.0252**
		(0.0127)		(0.0128)
Education: Post secondary		0.0369***		0.0346***
		(0.0130)		(0.0132)
Education: Graduate		0.0815***		0.0788***
		(0.0233)		(0.0234)
Povided capital			0.0201*	0.0223*
			(0.0117)	(0.0120)
Knowing entrepreneurs			-0.0074	-0.0060
			(0.0069)	(0.0072)
Gender	0.0342***	0.0320***	0.0353***	0.0330***
	(0.0069)	(0.0070)	(0.0070)	(0.0071)
Fear of failure	0.0017	0.0042	-0.0005	0.0034
	(0.0075)	(0.0077)	(0.0075)	(0.0077)
Early stage entrepreneur	0.0586***	0.0620***	0.0594***	0.0622***
	(0.0077)	(0.0081)	(0.0078)	(0.0082)
Reason: Take advantage of business opportunity	-0.0859***	-0.0885***	-0.0845***	-0.0875***
	(0.0124)	(0.0126)	(0.0125)	(0.0127)
Reason: No better choices for work	-0.0687***	-0.0672***	-0.6894***	-0.0678***
	(0.0132)	(0.0134)	(0.0133)	(0.0135)
Reason: Combination of both above	-0.0935***	-0.0893***	-0.0937***	-0.0899***
	(0.0150)	(0.0152)	(0.0151)	(0.0153)

 Table 6: Average marginal effects from logistic regression with highly sustainable entrepreneur as dependent

 variable

Reason: Have a job but seek better opportunities	-0.0939***	-0.0957***	-0.0952***	-0.0964***
	(0.0189)	(0.0193)	(0.0191)	(0.0195)
Observations	14,030	13,450	13,808	13,268
Pseudo R2	0.1057	0.1100	0.1060	0.1101

Table 6 continued

Note: Reference category for *education* is 'no education'. Reference category for *reason* is: 'other'. Country dummies included (52). Standard errors in parentheses, *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 *Source:* GEM Survey 2009: 'social entrepreneurship'

The predicted probability of being a highly sustainable entrepreneur of 0.22 or 22 percent is again the same in all four models, as the number of observations is quite similar in the models and the share of sustainable entrepreneurs is equal in each model. It is clear that the predicted probability increased from 13 percent to 22 percent in the model with the highly sustainable and highly traditional entrepreneurs. In this model the size of the differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs increased, as the size of the effects of all variables became slightly larger.

Concerning the human capital theory, hypothesis 1, we can see in model 2 that the sign and significance of (recent) *prior entrepreneurial experience, skills* and *age* did not change compared to the model shown in table 3. Prior entrepreneurial experience and skills show a (larger) negative effect on being a sustainable entrepreneur. For age, again, the U-shaped relation is found. For *education*, all levels of education significantly increase the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, on average, by 2.84 percentage points, compared to having no education. Which implies a total predicted probability of 24.84 percent, ceteris paribus. Hypothesis 1, again, is only partly confirmed. However, significant differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs have been found.

Concerning the social capital theory, hypothesis 2, we can see that the variable *provided capital* is still positive and became significant (at the ten percent level) in this model. *Knowing entrepreneurs* is still insignificantly negative. Hypothesis 2 is partly confirmed in this second Logit model, as provided capital significantly increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur, compared to not provided capital, on average, by 2.01 percentage points, to 24.01 percent, ceteris paribus.

In the total model the sign and significance of all explanatory variables is similar to the sign and significance of these variables in the second and third model. Furthermore, all control variables, except for fear of failure, significantly influence the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. Fear of failure is in none of the models significant, and has a negative sign in the third model, while the sign is positive in the other models. Furthermore, being male and being an early stage

entrepreneur increases the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. While the four different reasons, compared to 'other reason' decrease the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur.

The R2 of these Logit models with the highly sustainable and highly traditional entrepreneurs as dependent variable increased compared to the first Logit model. This implies that this 'extreme' model explains the data best. Most results remain the same, indicating that the boundary of 70 points is the right boundary in order to investigate differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs.

5. Discussion and limitations

In this chapter the results of the empirical analyses will be discussed in the first section and the limitations of the research will be pointed out in the second section.

5.1 Discussion

The results of the bivariate analysis showed that most explanatory variables independently influence the probability of being a sustainable or traditional entrepreneur. The significant influence of all four indicators for the human capital theory was confirmed. The influence of the two indicators for the social capital theory, however, could not be confirmed by the bivariate analysis. In order to test the relationship between the dependent and the explanatory variables further, a multivariate regression was conducted.

The multivariate empirical analysis (Logit) showed some expected and some less expected results. Significant differences were found between the different explanatory variables and the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. Hypothesis 1, concerning the human capital theory, is partly confirmed as education did show a significant increase of the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur and the effect became larger and more significant as the level of education increased, compared to having no education. Also, an interaction effect was found between gender and the lower category of education, some secondary, proving that these variables influence the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur as an interaction. However, the other indicators for human capital, prior entrepreneurial experience and self-perceived presence of skills showed a significant decrease in the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur. A possible explanation is that individuals with prior entrepreneurial experience probably have failed in this prior entrepreneurial experience, because they had to shut down, discontinue or quit their business. This failure could make it more likely for the entrepreneurs to start a new business that is less complicated than a sustainable venture, as sustainable entrepreneurs have to focus on a triple bottom line, and traditional entrepreneurs focus mostly just on the economical goals. If these entrepreneurs had to quit their business because of failure and they want to start a new business again, it is logical to choose just one goal. As economical gains are necessary in order to sustain a business, (failed) prior entrepreneurial experience could increase the chance of being a traditional entrepreneur, and just pursuing economical goals. 35 percent of the entrepreneurs with prior entrepreneurial experience had to sell the business because their business was not profitable and 18 percent had to sell because of problems with financing, which confirms the line of reasoning above.¹²

The opposite sign found for the *self-perceived presence of skills*, is more difficult to explain. If the individual answered confirmative on the question regarding the self-perceived presence of skills, this indicates that the individual is confident. One possibility of the opposite effect of the self perceived skills is that this indicator could decrease the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur when combined with education, as an interaction effect, however this relationship was not proven. Furthermore, it is possible that highly confident individuals, that mostly are highly educated as well in the data, could earn significant wages and thus want strive for more economical goals in order to achieve this significant income with their own business. When looking at the reason why the respondents become an entrepreneur, this line of thought is partly confirmed. Most individuals that think they have the skills to become an entrepreneur want to take advantage of a business opportunity. Taking advantage of a business opportunity could indicate that the individuals want to use this business opportunity in order to increase their gains. However, a business opportunity does not mean economical gains alone, thus further research should investigate this negative relationship between self-perceived skills and being a sustainable entrepreneur deeper. For example by including more variables, as policy, culture and wealth, and data should be included from more than one (year of) survey.

Furthermore, *age* showed an U-shaped effect as age/10 was negative and age/10^2 was found to be positive. The lowest point of this U-shape was 39 years, almost equal to the average age of the sample, 41 years. This means that the effect of age decreases until 39 years and then rises again, thus part of the sample experiences the negative effect, while the other part of the sample experiences the positive effect. All variables showed the same results in the total model, i.e. model 4.

The OLS regression confirmed these results, except for *prior entrepreneurial experience* and *skills*. These variables became insignificant in the second model. However (recent) *prior entrepreneurial experience* was significant again in the total model. All control variables showed the same sign and significance. The second Logit analysis, investigating the highly sustainable and highly traditional entrepreneurs, confirmed the results as well. The sign and significance of the explanatory variables remained the same, except for 'some secondary education' which became significant, while the size of the effect increased. Again, all control variables showed the same sign and significance.

¹² See table G in the Appendix

Hypothesis 2, concerning the social capital theory, could not be confirmed in model 2 of the first Logit analysis. Both indicators show insignificant results, indicating that there are no significant differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs in this regard. In the total model, i.e. model 4, the indicator *provided capital* became significant, with the expected sign. The OLS regression showed some differences for the explanatory variables. The sign of *knowing entrepreneurs* changed, however the results are still insignificant. The sign of *provided capital* did not change. In the second model this variable became significant, and in the total model, i.e. model 4, the variable became even more significant (at the one percent level). All control variables showed the same sign and significance as in the first Logit analysis. The results of the second Logit analysis, investigating the highly sustainable and highly traditional entrepreneurs, did confirm the results. The variable *provided capital* is still positive and became significant (at the ten percent level) in this model. *Knowing entrepreneurs* is still insignificantly negative. All control variables showed the same sign and significance.

The insignificance of the indicators of social capital is interesting. Knowing entrepreneurs and provided capital are used in more empirical papers as indicators for social capital and are mostly found to be of influence when becoming an entrepreneur (Davidsson & Honig, 2003; Estrin, Mickiewicz, & Stephan, 2013). The results in this research imply that there are no significant differences between being a sustainable or a traditional entrepreneur in terms of social capital. However, it could be possible that not all relevant indicators for social capital were included, due to limited data availability. As Estrin et al. (2013) found that association memberships also function as indicator for social capital and marital status and entrepreneurial parents are often included as well (Davidsson & Honig, 2003). Inclusion of these variables should be considered in further research in order to complete the findings of this paper.

An interesting finding is that the four reasons tested in the different models, show a significant negative effect compared to the reference category 'other reason'. This indicates that the appropriate reason why individuals become sustainable entrepreneurs has not yet been found. The four standard reasons used in the survey, do not include the main reason why individuals become sustainable entrepreneurs. Possible examples are ethical reason, community reason or maybe personal reasons. It is interesting for further research to find the appropriate reason, in order to conduct more precise research on this topic.

Lastly, the results presented in table D in the Appendix, including the country dummy results, are interesting. USA is the reference country, and fits quite in the middle of the sample as half of the countries show a negative effect to being a sustainable entrepreneur, compared to the USA, and the

other half of the countries shows a positive effect, compared to the USA. As most countries that show a negative effect are countries in developing areas in the world, level of development, wealth and policy could be indicators influencing the allocation of entrepreneurship. In particular the more developed countries showed a positive effect compared to the USA. This could be due to the effect of policy of the different countries. When investigating the hypotheses using continental dummies instead of country dummies, the effects of the explanatory variables changed significantly. This indicates that different continents, with different wealth-levels, have different numbers of sustainable entrepreneurs in that continent, due to the difference in wealth level. Furthermore policy could play a role as well. For further research it would be interesting to take the level of development of a country in account when investigating the allocation of entrepreneurship.

Based on these results, the main research question; 'Are sustainable entrepreneurs different from traditional entrepreneurs, and how?' can be answered affirmative, as significant differences are shown. However, not all variables, derived from the hypotheses, influence the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur as expected. This means that 'how' the entrepreneurs are different, is not completely as expected.

5.2 Limitations

It should be realized that the present paper has several limitations that naturally arise from the design of the survey used in this paper and the analysis conducted based on this survey, which should be taken into account when interpreting the results. In particular, this subsection will elaborate on several empirical limitations with respect to measurement, comparability, generalizability and the data availability.

As emphasized throughout this paper, sustainable entrepreneurship is still an emerging field of research, literature is still scarce and large scale quantitative empirical research is lacking. Furthermore, there is an ambiguous use of terminology in the literature and definitions are not used in accordance. This gives measurement challenges and complicates comparability. The dataset used in this paper is apparently the first that allows for a quantitative detailed empirical analysis of individual drivers and antecedents of sustainable entrepreneurship (compared to traditional entrepreneurship). This comes along with numerous empirical limitations. The identification of sustainable entrepreneurs is based on the allocation of a total of 100 points for the goals of the organization, including economical, social and environmental goals. This allocation of points measures the objective of the organization, and does not measure their actual sustainability. Also,

the definition of a sustainable entrepreneur is created by adding the points for social and environmental goals into a sustainable goal, which is not in line with all literature. Furthermore, the boundary between a traditional entrepreneur and a sustainable entrepreneur is set by the author of this paper, because of the lack of similar previous research. This is a limitation of the research and should be taken into account when interpreting the results.

A second possible limitation is related to the design of the survey and thus to the method applied in this paper, namely an interpretation bias. The same survey questions were asked in 55 different countries (of which 52 were used in this thesis), which could lead to interpretation problems. Different countries have different cultures, which influences the interpretation of the question by an individual. For example, the respondents could think they have (major) sustainable goals, while in the interpretation of others these goals are merely minor. This interpretation problem is a limitation of the empirical research, as the research is based on the individual responses to the questions of this survey.

Lastly, the empirical research showed some mixed results. A reason for these mixed results could be the omitted variable bias; there are some variables of influence not included in the model. Variables that could be of extra influence are for example institutional variables, (sustainable) policy measures and culture. Furthermore the level of development could play a role, and would be interesting to include in the model. For social capital, indicators as association memberships, marital status and entrepreneurial parents could be included in order to complete the model further. As a consequence of the omitted variable bias, the influence of these (extra) variables could be captured (partly) by some other variables in the model. The influence of the inclusion of these variables would be interesting for further research in this subject. Furthermore, the data availability is limited to one survey in 2009, in order to examine drivers and characteristics of sustainable entrepreneurs on the individual level. If data from several years would be available, more certain conclusions could be drawn, and for further research it would be interesting to compare the results of several years with the results of the one-year-data.

The control variables in the models used in the research could also be defined different ways. The control variable country was also included as a categorical variable with 4 categories containing the different continents, which led to different results. This could be interesting for further research to investigate deeper, as some continents are more developed and wealthier than others, and have different policies concerning environmental/social regulation. When including these indicators it is possible to measure how these differences affect the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur.

Hence, the results of the present study should be understood as indications for the fact that there are significant differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs and it is worth to research these differences in more detail in further research.

6. Conclusion

In this preliminary research the following research question: 'Are sustainable entrepreneurs different from traditional entrepreneurs, and how?' has been examined. For this research novel data from the GEM-survey 2009 special topic: 'social entrepreneurship activity' has been used. This is the first dataset that allows for a quantitative detailed empirical analysis of individual drivers and antecedents of sustainable entrepreneurship. The purpose of this research was to investigate the presence of differences on the individual level between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs, and if these differences exist, what are these differences? Based on previous literature two approaches were used in order to find and categorize possible differences; the human capital theory and the social capital theory.

Two hypotheses were formed in order to answer the main research question. The first hypothesis is based on information found in the literature research concerning the human capital theory: it was expected to find a positive relationship between human capital and owning a sustainable venture. This positive influence of human capital on the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur could only partly be proven. Education was found to improve this probability, as expected, while prior entrepreneurial experience and self-perceived skills decrease this probability, confirming that there are individual differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs, however not in the expected direction. Age did show a positive and negative effect, because of the non linearity, creating an U-shaped effect.

Furthermore, the second hypothesis was derived from the literature concerning the social capital theory, stating a positive relationship between social capital and managing/owning a sustainable venture. In the empirical analysis the indicators for the social capital theory were not found to significantly influence the probability of being a sustainable entrepreneur relative to being a traditional entrepreneur.

Overall, the results of the empirical analysis prove the existence of significant differences between sustainable and traditional entrepreneurs in this (preliminary) research. These results contribute to the existing literature concerning empirical research on sustainable entrepreneurship and suggest some areas for further exploration and research in more detail by researchers in this field.

7. Bibliography

Acs, Z. (2006). How is entrepreneurship good for economic growth? *Innovations, Technology, Governance, Globalization , 1* (1), 97-107.

Acs, Z., Desai, S., & Klapper, L. (2008). What does 'entrepreneurship' data really show? *Small Business Economics*, 31, 265-281.

Adler, P., & Kwon, S. (2002). Social Capital: prospects for a new concept. *Academic Management Review*, *27* (1), 17-40.

Aidis, R., Estrin, S., & Mickiewicz, T. (2012). Size matters: entrepreneurial entry and government. . *Small Business Economics , 39* (1), 119-139.

Aldrich, H., & Zimmer, C. (1990). Entrepreneurship through social networks. *California Management Review*, *33*, 3-23.

Austin, J., Stevenson, H., & Wei-Skillern, J. (2006). Social and commercial entrepreneurship: same, different or both? *Entrepreneurship: Theory and Practice*, *30* (1), 1-22.

Baron, R., & Markman, G. (2003). Beyond social capital: the role of entrepreneurs' social competence in their financial success. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *18* (1), 41-60.

Bates, T. (1995). Self-employment entry across industry groups. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 10, 143-156.

Becker, G. (1964). Human Capital. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Becker, G. (1975). Human Capital. New York: Colombia University Press.

Bennett, S. (1991). *Ecopreneuring: The complete guide to small business opportunities from the environmental revolution.* New York: Wiley.

Benson, C. (1978). The economics of public education. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.

Berle, G. (1991). *The green entrepreneur: business opportunities that can save the earth and make you money.* Blue Ridge Summit Pennsylvania: Liberty Hall Press.

Blue, J. (1990). Ecopreneuring: managing for results. London: Scott Foresman.

Bolton, J. (1971). *Small firms: Report of the Committee of Inquiry on Small Firms.* London: H.M. Stationery Office.

Bosman, N., Levie, J., & GERA. (2009). 2009 Global Report. Global Entrepreneurship Monitor.

Bourdieu, P. (1983). *Forms of Capital: Handbook of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education*. New York: Greenwood Press.

Brown, L. (2006). *Plan B 2.0: Rescuing a Planet under Stress and a Civilization in Trouble.* New York: W.W. Norton.

Brugmann, J., & Prahalad, C. (2007). Cocreating business's new social compact. *Harvard Business Review*, *85* (2), 80-90.

Bruyat, C., & Julien, P. (2000). Defining the field of research in entrepreneurship. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *16*, 165-180.

Busenitz, L., West, G., Shepherd, D., Nelson, T., Chandler, G., & Zacharakis, A. (2003). Entrepreneurship research in emergence: Past trends and future directions. *Journal of management*, 285-308.

Cohen, B., & Winn, M. (2007). Market imperfections, opportunity and sustainable entrepreneurship. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 22 (1), 29-49.

Coleman, J. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal of Sociology , 94* (S), 95-120.

Cooper, A., & Bruno, A. (1977). Succes among high-technology firms. *Business Horizons*, 20, 16-22.

Cunningham, J., & Lischeron, J. (1991). Defining Entrepreneurship. *Journal of Small Business , 29* (1), 45-61.

Daneke, G., Hall, J., & Lenox, M. (2010). Sustainable Development and Entrepreneurship: Past contributions and future directions. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *25* (5), 439-448.

Davidsson, P. (1989). *Continued Entrepreneurship and Small Firm Growth*. Stockholm: Economic Research Institute.

Davidsson, P., & Honig, B. (2003). The role of social and human capital among nascent entrepreneurs. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *18* (3), 301-331.

Dean, T., & McMullen, J. (2007). Toward a theory of sustainable entrepreneurship: Reducing environmental degradation through entrepreneurial action. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 22 (1), 50-76.

Dolfsma, W., & Danreuther, C. (2003). Subjects and boundaries: contesting social capital-based policies. *Journal of Economic Issues*, *37* (2), 405-413.

Downing, S. (2005). social construction of entrepreneurship: Narrative and dramatic processes in the coproduction of organizations and identities. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 29 (2), 185-204.

Elkington, J. (1998). *Cannibals with forks: The triple bottom line of sustainability*. Gabriola Island: New Society Publishers.

Estrin, S., Mickiewicz, T., & Stephan, U. (2013). Entrepreneurship, Social Capital, and Institutions: Social and Commercial Entrepreneurship Across Nations. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, 37 (3), ONLINE PUBLICATION. Evans, D., & Jovanovic, B. (1989). An estimated model of entrepreneurial choice under liguidity constraints. *Journal of Politicical Economy*, *97*, 808-827.

Evans, D., & Leighton, L. (1989). Some emperical aspects of entrepreneurship. *American Economic Review*, *79*, 519-535.

Feeser, H., & Willard, G. (1990). Founding strategy and performance: A comparison of high and low growth high tech firms. *Strategic Management Journal*, 11, 87-98.

Garfield, C. (1986). *Peak Performers: The New Heroes of American Business*. New York: Avon Books.

Gibbs, D. (2009). Sustainability Entrepreneurs, Ecopreneurs and the Development of a Sustainable Economy. *Greener Management International*, *55*, 63-78.

Gimeno, J., Folta, T., Cooper, A., & Woo, C. (1997). o Survival of the fittest? Entrepreneurial human capital and the persistence of underperforming firms. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *42*, 750-783.

Gimeno, J., Folta, T., Cooper, A., & Woo, C. (1997). Survival of the Fittest? Entrepreneurial Human Capital and the Persistence of Underperforming Firms. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *42* (4), 750-783.

Grootaert, C. (1998). Social Capital: the missing link? . *The World Bank Social Capital Initiative, Working Paper No. 3*.

Gunther McGrath, R., & MacMillan, I. (1992). Elitists, risk-takers, and rugged individualists? An exploratory analysis of cultural differences between entrepreneurs and non-entrepreneurs. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 7 (2), 115-135.

Harding, R., & Cowling, M. (2006). *Social Entrepreneurship Monitor*. London: London Business School, Global Entrepreneurship Monitor.

Harvey, F. (2007). Start Me Up. Green Futures , 65, 18-25.

Honig, B. (1996). Education and self employment in Jamaica. *Comparative Education Review*, 40, 177-193.

Hughes, J. (1986). *The Vital Few: American Economic Progress and its Protagonists*. New York: Oxford Univerity Press.

Keogh, P., & Polonsky, M. (1998). Environmental commitment: a basis for environmental entrepreneurship? *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 11 (1), 38-49.

Kirzner, I. (1973). *Competition and Entrepreneurship.* Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Knight, F. (1921). Risk, Uncertainty and Profit. New York, NY: Houghton Mifflin.

Kuckertz, A. W. (2010). The influence of sustainability orientation on entrepreneurial intentions — Investigating the role of business experience. *Journal of Business Venturing*, 25 (5), 524-539.

Kuckertz, A., & Wagner, M. (2010). The influence of sustainability orientation on entrepreneurial intentions — Investigating the role of business experience. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *25* (5), 524-539.

Larson, A. (2000). Sustainable innovation through an entrepreneurship lens. *Business Strategy and the environment*, *9* (5), 304-317.

Leff, N. (1979). Entrepreneurship and economic development: the problem revisited. *Journal of Economic Literature*, *17*, 46-64.

Lehtonen, M. (2004). The environmental–social interface of sustainable development: capabilities, social capital, institutions. *Ecological Economics*, 49 (2), 199-214.

Lepoutre, J., Justo, R., Terjesen, S., & Bosma, N. (2011). Designing a global standardized methodology for measuring social entrepreneurship activity: the Global Entrepreneurship Monitor social entrepreneurship study. *Small Business Economics , 40* (3), 693-714.

Li, D., Feng, J., & Jiang, H. (2006). Institutional Entrepreneurs. *The American Economic Review*, *96* (2), 358-362.

Lin, N., Ensel, W., & Vaughn, J. (1981). Social resources and strength of ties: structural factors in occupational status attainment. *American Sociological Review*, 46 (4), 393-405.

Mahoney, J., & Michael, S. (2004). *A Subjective Theory of Entrepreneurship, Handbook of Entrepreneurship.* Boston: Kluwer.

Mair, J., & Marti, I. (2006). Social entrepreneurship research: A source of explanation, prediction, and delight. *Journal of World Business*, *41* (1), 36-44.

Matos, S., & Hall, J. (2007). Integrating sustainable development in the supply chain: The case of life cycle assessment in oil and gas and agricultural biotechnology. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25 (6), 1083-1102.

Meek, W., Pacheco, D., & York, J. (2010). The impact of social norms on entrepreneurial action: Evidence from the environmental entrepreneurship context. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *25* (5), 493-509.

Mincer, J. (1974). Schooling, Experience and Earnings. New York: Columbia University Press.

Minniti, M. (2005). Entrepreneurship and network externalities. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, *57*, 1-27.

Pacheco, D. D. (2010). Escaping the green prison: Entrepreneurship and the creation of opportunities for sustainable development. *25* (5), 464-480.

Packalen, K. (2007). Complementing Capital: The Role of Status, Demographic Features, and Social Capital in Founding Teams' Abilities to Obtain Resources. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*, *31* (6), 873-891.

Parker, S. (2009). The Economics of Entrepreneurship. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Parker, S. (2004). *The economics of self-employment and entrepreneurship*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Parrish, B. (2006). Beyond Cleaner Production: Entrepreneurship and the Design of Sustainable Enterprise. *Paper presented at the International Conference on Green and Sustainable Innovation, Chiang Mai Thailand*, 29 November-1 December 2006.

Parrish, B. (2007). Designing the sustainable enterprise. *Futures*, 39 (7), 846-860.

Parrish, B. (2010). Sustainability-driven entrepreneurship: Principles of organization design. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *25* (5), 510-523.

Parrish, B., & Tilley, F. (2006). From Poles to Wholes: Facilitating an Integrated Approach to Sustainable Entrepreneurship. *World Review of Entrepreneurship, Management and Sustainable Development*, 281-294.

Patzelt, H., & Sheperd, D. (2011). Recognizing opportunites for sustainable entrepreneurship. *Entrepreneurship Theory & Practice , 35* (4), 631-652.

Polanyi, M. (1966). The Tacit Dimension. London: Routledge and Kegan.

Portes, A. (1998). Social Capital. Annual Review Sociological, 23, 1-24.

Poschke, M. (2013). Who becomes an entrepreneur? Labor market prospects and occupational choice. *Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control*, *37* (3), 693-710.

Putnam, R. (1993). Making Democracy work. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Reed, R., & DeFillippi, R. (1995). Casual ambiguity, barriers to imitation, and sustainable competencybased advantage. *Academic Management Review*, 15 (1), 88-102.

Reynolds, P. (1997). Who starts firms? Preliminary explorations of firms in gestation. *Small Business Economics*, 9, 449-462.

Reynolds, P., Bosma, N., Autio, E., Hunt, S., De Bono, N., Servais, I., et al. (2005). Global entrepreneurship monitor: Data collection design and implementation 1998–2003. *Small Business Economics*, 24 (3), 205-231.

Robinson, P., & Sexton, E. (1994). The effect of education and experience on self-employment success. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *9*, 141-156.

Say, J. (1971). A Treatise on Political Economy or the Production, Distribution and Consumption of Wealth. New York: A.M. Kelley Publishers .

Schaper, M. (2002). The essence of ecopreneurship. *Greener Management International*, 38, 26-31.

Schlange, L. (2006). What drives sustainable entrepreneurs. *Applied Business and Entrepreneurship Association Conference , Kona, HI, USA*, 16-20.

Schultz, T. (1981). *Investing in people: The economics of population quality*. Los Angeles: University of California Press.

Schultz, T. (1959). Investment in man: an economist's view. Social Service Review, 33 (2), 69-75.

Schumpeter, J. (1934). *The Theory of Economic Development*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Shane, S. (2000). Prior knowledge and the discovery of entrepreneurial opportunities. *Organization Science* (11), 448-469.

Shane, S., & Venkataraman, S. (2000). The promise of entrepreneurship as a field of research. *Acadamy of Management Review* (25), 217-226.

Shepherd, D., & Patzelt, H. (2011). The New Field of Sustainable Entrepreneurship: Studying Entrepreneurial Action Linking "What Is to Be Sustained" With "What Is to Be Developed". *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice , 35* (Special Issue: Future of Entrepreneurship, 1), 137-163.

Sobel, J. (2002). Can we trust social capital? . Journal of Economic Literature , 40 (1), 139-154.

Sweetland, S. (1996). Human Capital Theory: Foundations of a Field of Inquiry. *Review of Educational Research*, *66* (3), 341-359.

Terjesen, S., Lepoutre, J., Justo, R., Bosma, N., & GERA. (2012). 2009 Report on Social *Entrepreneurship*. GEM: Global Entrepreneurship Monitor.

Thompson, N., Kiefer, K., & York, J. (2011). Distinctions not Dichotomies: Exploring Social, Sustainable, and Environmental Entrepreneurship. *In G.T. Lumpkin & J.A. Katz (Eds.), social and sustainable entrepreneurship (Advances in Entrepreneurship, Firm Emergence and Growth) , 13*, 201-220.

Tilley, F. (2007). Conceptualising Sustainability Entrepreneurship. *paper presented at First World Symposium on Sustainable Entrepreneurship 15-17 july*.

Ucbasaran, D., Westhead, P., & Wright, M. (2006). *Habitual Entrepreneurs*. Northampton: Edward Elgar Publishing.

Uzzi, B. (1999). Embeddedness in the making of financial capital: how social relations and networks benefit firms seeking financing. *American Sociological Review*, 64 (4), 481-505.

Van de Ven, A., Sapienza, H., & Villanueva, J. (2007). Entrepreneurial pursuits of self- and collective interests. *Strategic Entrepreneurship Journal*, *1*, 353-370.

van Praag, C. (1999). Some Classic Views on Entrepreneurship. The Economist, 147, 311-335.

Vega, G. K. (2007). Toward a typology of new venture creators: similarities and contrasts between business and social entrepreneurs. *New England Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 10 (2), 15-29.

Weerawardena, J., & Sullivan Mort, G. (2006). Investigating social entrepreneurship: A multidimensional model. *Journal of World Business*, *41* (1), 21-35.

Weick, K. (1996). Drop your tools: an allegory for organizational studies. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *41*, 301-314.

Wennekers, S., Thurik, R., van Stel, A., & Reynolds, P. (2005). Nascent entrepreneurship and the level of economic development. *Small Business Economics*, *24*, 293-309.

Woolcock, M. (2001). The Place of Social Capital in Understanding Social and Economic Outcomes. The Contribution of Human and Social Capital to Sustained Economic Growth and Well-Being. *International Symposium Report HRCD and OECD*, 65-88.

World Commission on Environment and Development. (1987). *Our Common Future.* Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Wright, M., Robbie, K., & Ennew, C. (1997). Serial Entrepreneurs. *British Journal of Management*, 8 (3), 251-268.

York, J., & Venkataraman, S. (2010). The entrepreneur–environment nexus: Uncertainty, innovation, and allocation. *Journal of Business Venturing*, *25* (5), 449-463.

Young, W., & Tilley, F. (2006). Can businesses move beyond efficiency? The shift toward effectiveness and equity in the corporate sustainability debate. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, *15* (6), 402-415.

8. Appendix

Table A: Descriptive statistics dependent variable

Dependent variable	Definition	Mean	S.D.
Sustainable entrepreneur	1= sustainable entrepreneur (≥70 point for social and environmental goals) 0=traditional entrepreneur	0.15	0.35

Table B: Definition and descriptive statistics of explanatory and control variables

	Explanatory variables	Me Perce	ean/ entage	S	D.	Num observ	ber of vations	Pearson Chi	P-value
		S	т	S	т	S	т	Square	
Prior entrepreneurial experience	1=respondent has prior entrepreneurial experience in the past 12 months, 0 otherwise	0.08	0.09	0.27	0.29	3.742	21.714	5.678	0.017
Skills	1= respondent answered to have the required skills, knowledge and experience to start a new business, 0 otherwise	0.82	0.84	0.38	0.36	3.519	20.602	12.191	0.000
Age/10	Age between 18-99 at time of interview. Devided by 10.	4.23	4.10	1.32	1.25	3691	21.552	138.524	0.000
Age/10^2	Age between 18-99 at time of interview. Devided by 10 and squared.	19.62	18.39	11.76	10.76	3.619	21.552	138.524	0.000
	None	7.23%	13.03%	0.26	0.34				
	Some secondary	14.51%	18.83%	0.35	0.39				
Education	Secondary degree	35.12%	34.10%	0.48	0.47	3.707	21.646	208.546	0.000
	Post secondary	38.14%	31.04%	0.38	0.46				
	Graduate	4.99%	3.00%	0.05	0.17				
Provided capital	1= respondent provided funds in the past three years, 0 otherwise	0.10	0.09	0.30	0.29	3.742	21.708	1.240	0.265
Knowing entrepreneurs	1= respondent knows someone who has started a business in the past two years, 0 otherwise	0.58	0.59	0.49	0.49	3.537	20.841	2.495	0.114
Gender	1= male, 0=female	0.42	0.37	0.49	0.48	3.755	21.800		
Fear of failure	1= fear of failure would prevent respondent from starting a business, 0 otherwise	0.27	0.28	0.44	0.45	3.513	20.629		
Early stage entrepreneur	1= respondent is owner/manager of a business <3,5 years, 0 otherwise	0.32	0.32	0.47	0.47	3.755	21.802		
	Other	45.46%	46.17%	0.50	0.50				
	Take advantage of business opportunity	28.95%	29.15%	0.45	0.45				
Reason	No better choices for work	11.16%	11.46%	0.31	0.32	3126	20914		
	Combination of both of the above	4.51%	6.65%	0.21	0.25				
	Have a job but seek better opportunities	9.92%	6.57%	0.29	0.25				

Note: S=sustainable entrepreneurs, T=traditional entrepreneurs. *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1

Source: GEM 2009 special report on social entrepreneurship.

Table C: Number of observations and percentage of sustainable entrepreneurs per country starting at the country with the lowest number of sustainable entrepreneurs

Country	Observations	Percentage	Coι
Ecuador	5	0.13	Finland
Yemen	7	0.19	Japan
West bank & Gaza strip	7	0.19	Algeria
Malaysia	14	0.37	Korea
Panama	15	0.40	Belgium
Saudi Arabia	15	0.40	South A
Romania	16	0.43	Switzerl
Brazil	18	0.48	Dominic
Hungary	22	0.59	Denmar
Serbia	22	0.59	Latvia
Shenzhen	26	0.69	Norway
Israel	28	0.75	German
Jordan	30	0.80	Greece
Iran	31	0.83	Colomb
Guatemala	33	0.88	Netherla
Hong Kong	35	0.93	Iceland
Peru	37	0.99	Uganda
Italy	39	1.04	Argentii
Urugauy	39	1.04	Slovenia
Lebanon	41	1.09	Jamaica
Syria	43	1.15	United S
Venezuela	45	1.20	Chile
Tonga	46	1.23	China
Morocco	52	1.38	Spain
Bosnia and Herzegovina	54	1.44	United I
United Arab Emirates	54	1.44	
Croatia	56	1.49	Total

Country	Observations	Percentage
Finland	56	1.49
Japan	60	1.60
Algeria	68	1.81
Korea	68	1.81
Belgium	69	1.84
South Africa	69	1.84
Switzerland	70	1.86
Dominican	72	1.92
Denmark	73	1.94
Latvia	74	1.97
Norway	80	2.13
Germany	83	2.21
Greece	83	2.21
Colombia	84	2.24
Netherlands	89	2.37
Iceland	97	2.58
Uganda	101	2.69
Argentina	109	2.90
Slovenia	115	3.06
Jamaica	121	3.22
United States	141	3.75
Chile	145	3.86
China	154	4.10
Spain	331	8.81
United Kingdom	478	12.73
Total	3,755	100.00

Source: GEM Survey 2009: 'social entrepreneurship'

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
Predicted probability: Sustainable	0.13	0.13	0.13	0.13
entrepreneur				
Negative				
Yemen	-0.2879***	-0.2800**	-0.2871***	-0.2800***
	(0.0437)	(0.0438)	(0.0438)	(0.0438)
West bank & Gaza strip	-0.2674***	-0.2508***	-0.2664	-0.2501***
·	(0.0564)	(0.0561)	(0.0564)	(0.0561)
Ecuador	-0.2414***	-0.2198***	-0.2419***	-0.2197***
	(0.0565)	(0.0562)	(0.0565)	(0.0562)
Brazil	-0.1725***	-0.1516***	-0.0179***	-0.1582***
	(0.0298)	(0.0302)	(0.0306)	(0.0310)
Lebanon	-0.1419***	-0.1261***	-0.1399***	-0.1244***
	(0.0265)	(0.0268)	(0.0266)	(0.0268)
Serbia	-0.1190***	-0.1110***	-0.1154***	-0.1083***
	(0.0327)	(0.0337)	(0.0327)	(0.0337)
Panama	-0.1205***	-0.1048***	-0.1202***	-0.1047***
	(0.0326)	(0.0327)	(0.0327)	(0.0327)
Malaysia	-0.1255***	-0.0943**	-0.1175***	-0.0869**
	(0.0441)	(0.0442)	(0.0443)	(0.0443)
Peru	-0.1019***	-0.0830***	-0.1043***	-0.0823***
	(0.0240)	(0.0247)	(0.0243)	(0.0247)
Venezuela	-0.0956***	-0.0813**	-0.0939***	-0.0799**
	(0.0319)	(0.0320)	(0.0320)	(0.0320)
Hungary	-0.0838***	-0.0805***	-0.0828***	-0.0798***
	(0.02834)	(0.0296)	(0.0284)	(0.0296)
Saudi Arabia	-0.0904***	-0.0757**	-0.0898***	-0.0755**
	(0.0350)	(0.0350)	(0.0350)	(0.0351)
Tonga	-0.0594**	-0.0640**	-0.0622**	-0.0680**
	(0.0261)	(0.0279)	(0.0265)	(0.0284)
Urugay	-0.0606**	-0.0645**	-0.0598**	-0.0640**
	(0.0814)	(0.0276)	(0.0259)	(0.0277)
Jordan	-0.0773***	-0.0617**	-0.0761***	-0.0609**
	(0.0270)	(0.0273)	(0.0270)	(0.0273)
Guatemala	-0.0496**	-0.0292	-0.0544**	-0.0353***
	(0.0239)	(0.0249)	(0.0244)	(0.0253)
Israel	-0.0497	-0.0375	-0.0457	-0.0352
	(0.0315)	(0.0316)	(0.0316)	(0.0316)
Uganda	-0.0618***	-0.0296	-0.0618***	-0.0310
	(0.0174)	(0.0193)	(0.0175)	(0.0194)
Spain	-0.0376***	-0.0266**	-0.0383***	-0.0276*
	(0.1457)	(0.0152)	(0.0147)	(0.0153)

Table D: Average marginal effects from logistic regression with sustainable entrepreneur asdependent variable per country

Table D continued				
Chile	-0.0324*	-0.0231	-0.0327*	-0.0241
	(00167)	(0.0173)	(0.0168)	(0.0174)
Algeria	-0.0214	-0.0197	-0.0240	-0.0202
	(0.0207)	(0.0223)	(0.0212)	(0.0226)
Italy	-0.0056	-0.0139	-0.0011	-0.0184
	(0.0241)	(0.0244)	(0.0242)	(0.0245)
Colombia	-0.0301*	-0.0168	-0.0306*	-0.0177
	(0.0182)	(0.0187)	(0.0182)	(0.0187)
China	-0.0291*	-0.0114	-0.0243	-0.0088
	(0.0164)	(0.0174)	(0.0166)	(0.0176)
Morocco	-0.0230	-0.0009	-0.0187	-0.0024
	(0.0210)	(0.0223)	(0.0211)	(0.0225)
Positive				
South Africa	0.1275***	0.1413***	0.1278***	0.1407***
	(0.0218)	(0.0224)	(0.0212)	(0.0225)
Japan	0.1237***	0.1262***	0.1233***	0.1256***
	(0.0220)	(0.0227)	(0.0220)	(0.0228)
Slovenia	0.0978***	0.1052***	0.0993***	0.1062***
	(0.0191)	(0.0196)	(0.0192)	(0.0197)
Norway	0.0826***	0.0925***	0.0811***	0.0906***
	(0.0193)	(0.0198)	(0.0194)	(0.0198)
Hong Kong	0.0789***	0.0817**	0.0813***	0.0829**
	(0.0259)	(0.0402)	(0.0260)	(0.0404)
Bosnia and Herzegovina	0.0726***	0.0603***	0.0716***	0.0817***
	(0.0238)	(0.0243)	(0.0243)	(0.0248)
United Kingdom	0.0762***	0.0761***	0.0754***	0.0755***
	(0.0143)	(0.0150??)	(0.0144)	(0.0151)
Iceland	0.0711***	0.0763***	0.0700***	0.0746***
	(0.0194)	(0.0199)	(0.0196)	(0.0201)
Croatia	0.0532**	0.0603**	0.0547**	0.0616**
	(0.0236)	(0.0242)	(0.0239)	(0.0245)
The Netherlands	0.0449**	0.0582***	0.0456**	0.0593***
	(0.0200)	(0.0205)	(0.0200)	(0.0206)
Greece	0.0437**	0.0542***	0.0429**	0.0534***
	(0.0192)	(0.0196)	(0.0193)	(0.0197)
Denmark	0.0529**	0.0503**	0.0508**	0.4782*
	(0.0246)	(0.0254)	(0.0249)	(0.0257)
Switzerland	0.0425**	0.0496**	0.0394*	0.0467**
	(0.0207)	(0.0210)	(0.0209)	(0.0212)
Germany	0.0517***	-0.0449**	-0.0507***	-0.0439**
	(0.0188)	(0.0193)	(0.0189)	(0.0194)
Belgium	0.0394*	0.0504**	0.0361	0.0468**
	(0.0231)	(0.0233)	(0.0233)	(0.0235)

Table D continued				
Jamaica	0.0242	0.0412**	0.0236	0.0401**
	(0.0170)	(0.0180)	(0.0171)	(0.0181)
Finland	0.0263	0.0394*	0.0272	0.0399*
	(0.0222)	(0.0225)	(0.0223)	(0.0226)
Dominican Republic	0.0253	0.0368**	0.0262	0.0373**
	(0.0193)	(0.0199)	(0.0194)	(0.0200)
Argentina	0.0260	0.0365*	0.0231	0.0334*
	(0.0182)	(0.0186)	(0.0184)	(0.0188)
Korea	0.0390**	0.0389*	0.0347*	0.0334
	(0.0198)	(0.0209)	(0.0203)	(0.0215)
Iran	0.0119	0.0330	0.0169	0.0308
	(0.0259)	(0.0275)	(0.0268)	(0.0284)
United Arab Emirates	0.0199	0.0307	0.0171	0.0270
	(0.0218)	(0.0221)	(0.0222)	(0.0224)
Syria	0.0141	0.0292	0.0108	0.0251
	(0.0224)	(0.0273)	(0.0226)	(0.0232)
Shenzhen	0.0150	0.0247	0.0137	0.0216
	(0.0292)	(0.0313)	(0.0298)	(0.0320)
Latvia	0.0158	0.0229	0.0148	0.0212***
	(0.0200)	(0.0207)	(0.0202)	(0.0209)
Romania	0.0183	0.0363	0.0016	0.0135
	(0.0355)	(0.0357)	(0.0395)	(0.0394)

Note: Countries are ranked from large result to small result, based on results of total model, i.e. model 4. Reference country is USA. Standard errors in parentheses, *** p<0.01, ** p<0.05, * p<0.1 *Source:* GEM Survey 2009: 'social entrepreneurship'

Table E: Descriptive statistics dependent variable OLS

Variable	Definition	Mean	S.D.
Sustainable entrepreneur	Continuous variable with scores ranging from 0-100 for social + environmental goals.	37.06	26.93

Table F: Descriptive statistics dependent variable 'highly sustainable' and 'highly traditional'

Variable	Definition	Mean	S.D.
Highly sustainable entrepreneur	1= highly sustainable entrepreneur (≥70 point for social and environmental goals) 0=highly traditional entrepreneur (≥70 point for economical goals)	0.22	0.42

Table G: Reasons for exit business

Reason	Frequency	Percentage
An opportunity to sell the business	224	4.04
The business was not profitable	1.958	34.29
Problems getting finance	984	17.73
Another job or business opportunity	489	8.81
Exit planned in advance	157	2.83
Retirement	276	4.97
Personal reasons	1.197	21.57
An incident	264	4.76
Total	5.549	100.00

Note: follow-up question for respondents that replied YES to the following question: 'You have, in the past 12 months, sold, shut down, discontinued or quit business you owned and managed, any form of self-employment, or selling goods or services to anyone'

Source: GEM Survey 2009: 'social entrepreneurship'